A SIMPLE AUTOMATED SYSTEM FOR APPETITIVE CONDITIONING OF ZEBRAFISH IN THEIR HOME TANKS AND STUDYING UNDERLYING NEURAL ACTIVATION

by

Neil H. Merovitch

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia August 2016

© Copyright by Neil H. Merovitch, 2016

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES
ABSTRACTviii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED ix
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS xi
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION 1
1.1 Learning and Memory1
1.2 Zebrafish as a Model 1
1.3 DEVELOPING LEARNING PARADIGMS
1.4 Adult Associative Learning Paradigms
1.5 Spatial Learning in Zebrafish
1.6 Social Effects on Learning
1.7 LEARNING IN DEVELOPING ZEBRAFISH
1.8 Functional Mapping
1.8.1 Visualizing Calcium Activity 11
1.8.2 Alternative Visualization Techniques 11
1.9 OBJECTIVES
CHAPTER 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 15
2.1 Animals
2.2 Experimental Apparatus
2.3 CONDITIONING
2.4 Probe Trials
2.5 DATA COLLECTION AND ANALYSIS

2.6 Immunohistochemistry	. 23
2.7 MICROCOPY AND IMAGE ANALYSIS	. 24
CHAPTER 3 RESULTS	. 26
3.1 AUDITORY CONDITIONING AND MEMORY RETENTION OF ADULT FISH	. 26
3.1.1 Acquisition of Appetitive Conditioning	. 26
3.1.2 Memory Retention in Groups of Fish	. 28
3.1.3 Memory Retention in Individual Fish	. 29
3.2 AUDITORY CONDITIONING AND MEMORY RETENTION OF JUVENILE FISH (49 DPF).	. 33
3.2.1 Acquisition of Appetitive Conditioning	. 33
3.2.2 Memory Retention for Groups of Fish	. 33
3.3 AUDITORY CONDITIONING AND MEMORY RETENTION OF YOUNGER JUVENILE FISH	ł
(30 DPF)	. 38
3.3.1 Acquisition of Appetitive Conditioning	. 38
3.3.2 Memory Retention for Groups of Fish	. 38
3.4 CHARACTERIZATION OF PHOSPHORYLATED ERK IMMUNOREACTIVITY	. 43
CHAPTER 4 DISCUSSION	. 49
4.1 CONDITIONING	. 49
4.2 RATE OF ACQUISITION	. 51
4.3 Memory Retention	. 52
4.4 Advantages of Automation	. 54
4.5 NEURAL CORRELATES OF LEARNING	. 55
4.6 Conclusions	. 57
REFERENCES	. 59

APPENDIX A: SUPPLEMENTAL MOVIES	72
APPENDIX B: ARDUINO SKETCHES FOR CONDITIONING	73
A.1.1: AUDITORY TRAINING DAY ONE	73
A.1.2: Auditory Training Day Two	78
A.2.1: AUDITORY CONTROL DAY ONE	82
A.2.2: AUDITORY CONTROL DAY TWO	86
A.3: AUDITORY RETENTIONS	90
APPENDIX C: STATISTICAL ANALYSES FOR ADULT ZEBRAFISH	94
C.1: Adult - Horizontal Movement	94
C.1.1: Acquisition – Linear Mixed Effects Model	94
C.1.2: Group Retention – Two-Way ANOVA	95
C.1.3: Individual Retention – Two-Way ANOVA	95
C.2: Adult - Vertical Movement	96
C.2.1: Acquisition – Linear Mixed Effects Model	96
C.2.2: Group Retention – Two-Way ANOVA	97
C.2.3: Individual Retention – Two-Way ANOVA	97
C.3: Adult - Movement Towards Food	98
C.3.1: Acquisition – Linear Mixed Effects Model	98
C.3.2: Group Retention – Two-Way ANOVA	99
C.3.3: Individual Retention – Two-Way ANOVA	99
APPENDIX D: STATISTICAL ANALYSES FOR JUVENILE ZEBRAFISH (49 DP	'F)
	. 100
D.1: JUVENILE (49 DPF) - HORIZONTAL MOVEMENT	. 100

D.1.1: Acquisition – Linear Mixed Effects Model	. 100
D.1.2: Group Retention – Two-Way ANOVA	. 101
D.2: JUVENILE (49 DPF) - VERTICAL MOVEMENT	. 102
D.2.1: Acquisition – Linear Mixed Effects Model	. 102
D.2.2: Group Retention – Two-Way ANOVA	. 103
D.3: JUVENILE (49 DPF) - MOVEMENT TOWARDS FOOD	. 104
D.3.1: Acquisition – Linear Mixed Effects Model	. 104
D.3.2: Group Retention – Two-Way ANOVA	. 105
APPENDIX E: STATISTICAL ANALYSES FOR JUVENILE ZEBRAFISH (30 DP	F)
	. 106
E.1: JUVENILE (30 DPF) - HORIZONTAL MOVEMENT	. 106
E.1.1: Acquisition – Linear Mixed Effects Model	. 106
E.1.2: Group Retention – Two-Way ANOVA	. 107
E.2: JUVENILE (30 DPF) - VERTICAL MOVEMENT	. 108
E.2.1: Acquisition – Linear Mixed Effects Model	. 108
E.2.2: Group Retention – Two-Way ANOVA	. 109
E.3: JUVENILE (30 DPF) - MOVEMENT MOVEMENT TOWARDS FOOD	. 110
E.3.1: Acquisition – Linear Mixed Effects Model	. 110
E.3.2: Group Retention – Two-Way ANOVA	. 111
APPENDIX F: COPYRIGHT PERMISSIONS	. 112

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Coronal section of adult zebrafish illustrating telencephalic subdivisions 10
Figure 2.1. Behavioural apparatus for auditory conditioning in home tanks
Figure 3.1. Instantaneous positions of five zebrafish in a control (A) and experimental
tank (B) during trial 2027
Figure 3.2. Adult zebrafish in the experimental group moved away from their initial
positions towards the food source as a result of conditioning to the auditory stimulus.
Figure 3.3. Adult zebrafish in the experimental group moved vertically from their initial
positions towards the surface as a result of conditioning to the auditory stimulus 31
Figure 3.4. Adult zebrafish in the experimental group moved laterally from their initial
positions towards the food source as a result of conditioning to the auditory stimulus.
Figure 3.5. Juvenile zebrafish (49 dpf) in the experimental group moved away from their
initial positions towards the food source as a result of conditioning to the auditory
stimulus
Figure 3.6. Juvenile zebrafish (49 dpf) in the experimental group moved vertically from
their initial positions towards the surface as a result of conditioning to the auditory
stimulus
Figure 3.7. Juvenile zebrafish (49 dpf) in the experimental group moved laterally from
their initial positions towards the food source as a result of conditioning to the
auditory stimulus

Figure 3.8. Juvenile zebrafish (30 dpf) in the experimental group moved away from their
initial positions towards the food source as a result of conditioning to the auditory
stimulus
Figure 3.9. Juvenile zebrafish (30 dpf) in the experimental group moved vertically from
their initial positions towards the surface as a result of conditioning to the auditory
stimulus
Figure 3.10. Juvenile zebrafish (30 dpf) in the experimental group moved laterally from
their initial positions towards the food source as a result of conditioning to the
auditory stimulus
Figure 3.11. Representative pERK immunoreactivity (maximum intensity projection) in
the dorsal telencephalon of a control (A) and experimental (B) juvenile zebrafish (30
dpf) when tested for retention after 2 days 45
Figure 3.12. Mean pERK immunoreactive cell density index values (number of cells per
μ m ²) in the whole dorsal pallium
Figure 3.13. Mean percentage of the total telencephalic area covered by pERK
immunoreactivity in the whole dorsal pallium, as well as the lateral and medial
quadrants of the anterior and posterior dorsal pallium

ABSTRACT

Zebrafish are emerging as a novel model for studying learning and memory. However, the number of behavioural paradigms which minimize handling stress and are suited to their social nature is limited. We developed an automated learning paradigm to condition groups of adult and juvenile zebrafish in their home tanks. Fish consistently learned to associate an auditory stimulus with the presentation of food and showed robust conditioned responses as early as the 5th trial. Memory of the association persisted for at least 2 days after training, when fish were tested either as groups or as individuals. This retention in juveniles was associated with increased immunoreactivity to phosphorylated ERK, a marker of neural activity, in the dorsolateral telencephalon. This simple paradigm permits scalable conditioning of zebrafish with minimal intervention, reducing variability and labour-intensiveness. In addition, these results support the use of phosphorylated ERK to examine the neural correlates of learning and memory.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED

ΔΑΙC	Change in Akaike's information criterion
°C	Degrees Celsius
%	Percent
3D	Three-dimensional
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
cm	Centimeter
CS	Conditioned stimulus
CUBIC	Clear, unobstructed brain imaging cocktails and computational analysis
dpf	Days post-fertilization
ERK	Extracellular receptor kinase
FM	Frequency modulated
fps	Frames per Second
h	Hour
hrs	Hours
Hz	Hertz
LED	Light-emitting diode
L	Litre
μm	Micrometer
mg	Milligram
mm	Millimetre
min	Minute

- pERK Phosphorylated ERK
- PFA Paraformaldehyde
- PBS Phosphate buffered saline
- PBS-T Phosphate buffered saline with triton
- ROI's Regions of interest
- sec Seconds
- s.e.m. Standard error of mean
- US Unconditioned stimulus

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere appreciation to my supervisors Dr. Alan Fine and Dr. Roger Croll for their support, guidance and patience over these past five years. Also, thank you to my committee members Drs. Patrice Cote, Simon Gadbois, Paivi Torkkeli, Steven Barnes and Alexander Quinn for their helpful suggestions, feedback and discussions.

I would also like to extend my appreciation to my fellow lab members, both past and present, Drs. Ulli Hoeger and Yi-ling Hu for helping me get settled in the lab and answering my numerous questions, Matt Stoyek for his assistance with the fish and helping me to become a more critical thinker, Jillian Doyle for her assistance with the behavioural experiments, encouragement and baked goods, Arnaud Gaudin, Alexia Scaros and Tatjana Golovin for their enthusiasm about research and support, Matthew MacDougall and Borbala Podor for their help with my attempts at live imaging and taking care of the fish, Juyang Long, Emma Finlayson-Trick, Charlotte Nauss and Stephanie Shewchuk for their assistance with data collection and weekend fish care. Also, thank you to the other members of the Croll and Fine labs for providing a stimulating work environment and encouragement. I would also like to acknowledge Dr. Russell Wyeth for his help with analysis in Matlab and statistics and Alexander Goroshkov for his technical assistance.

In addition, thank you to Drs. Arunika Gunawardena and Marty Leonard for sharing their passion about science and teaching me that nothing is impossible if you put your mind to it. I would also like to express my gratitude to Setareh Lahsaee, Megan Crosby and Emma Neilson for their assistance and patience throughout their time in the lab.

Finally, I would like to thank my family for their encouragement and support throughout this endeavor.

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 LEARNING AND MEMORY

Learning and memory are fundamental cognitive processes found throughout the animal kingdom, from unicellular organisms to vertebrates. The capacity to encode, store and retrieve details of previous events is essential for an organism to survive and adapt to its environment. Learning can be defined as the acquisition of a change in behaviour that is dependent on experience, whereas memory refers to the ability to retrieve this learned information (Abel and Lattal, 2001; Gerlai, 2011). A great deal of our knowledge regarding these processes and the underlying mechanisms has come from human case studies and animal models (Wright and Watkins, 1987; Milner et al., 1998). However, choosing an appropriate animal model involves balancing factors such as simplicity, homology and expense. The simplicity of invertebrates has made them useful tools for understanding the underlying genetics and molecular substrates (Agranoff et al., 1999). Some widely used invertebrate models, such as C. elegans, are restricted by their primitive nervous system, lack of homologous brain structures, and behavioural responses (Hughes, 2013). On the other hand, rodents are more closely related to humans; however, they have large complex neural circuits, are costly to maintain, nocturnal and produce offspring requiring parental care (Lonstein et al., 2002; Lieschke and Currie, 2007; Fadool and Dowling, 2008; Friedrich et al., 2013). These reasons have led to increased interest in zebrafish (Danio rerio) as a novel intermediate animal model (Avdesh et al., 2012).

1.2 ZEBRAFISH AS A MODEL

Zebrafish offer numerous advantages for the study of learning and memory. These

include ease and efficiency of animal husbandry (Patton and Zon, 2001; Spence et al., 2008); ready availability of molecular tools to dissect underlying mechanisms; homology of genes with mammals (including humans); and similarity of basic developmental, morphological, and physiological processes shared across the vertebrates (Bally-Cuif and Vernier, 2010). Zebrafish also have a rich repertoire of behaviours, which they execute using relatively simple neuronal circuits and may therefore possess further advantages for reductionist approaches to understanding underlying brain mechanisms (Roberts et al., 2013). Furthermore, the small size and relative transparency of zebrafish, particularly at early developmental stages and in non-pigmented mutant strains, renders them particularly suitable for powerful methods of optical imaging of electrical activity and optogenetic activation or inhibition of specific sets of neurons (Sumbre and de Polavieja, 2014). A final and increasingly important incentive for studies of learning and memory in zebrafish comes from the use of high-throughput screens to test for pharmacological and genetic effects on cognition (Gerlai, 2010; Miscevic et al., 2012).

1.3 DEVELOPING LEARNING PARADIGMS

A comprehensive appraisal of an animal's ability to learn and remember will require multiple assays employing different sensory modalities, behavioural responses and forms of learning. One of the most studied forms of learning is associative learning, which underlies many experience-dependent adaptive behaviours (LaLumiere and W. Kalivas, 2007). This type of learning allows animals to form meaningful associations between two or more stimuli or events. For instance, in the simplest form of associative learning, classical conditioning, temporal pairing of a neutral stimulus (conditioned stimulus, CS) with an appetitive or aversive stimulus (unconditioned stimulus, US)

results in the formation of a conditioned response elicited by the previously neutral CS (Gerlai, 2011).

The development of appropriate associative learning paradigms for zebrafish is contingent upon the careful selection of stimuli and measurement of behavioural responses. Most learning and behavioural studies in zebrafish repurpose rodent maze designs and paradigms, despite clear distinctions between innate behaviours and natural environments of rodents and fish. Therefore, paradigms that are more compatible with the natural behaviour and ecology of zebrafish may reveal new insights about their cognitive capabilities (Gerlai, 2011).

In case of associative learning, the process of choosing appropriate conditioned stimuli requires knowledge of the sensory and perceptual capacities of zebrafish in each modality. For instance, zebrafish have been shown to have a complex visual system and rely heavily on their sense of vision (Fadool and Dowling, 2008). Moreover, zebrafish are sensitive to auditory and olfactory cues, such as amino acids or alarm pheromones (Suboski et al., 1990; Steele et al., 1991; Cervi et al., 2012). These stimuli have the potential to be used in conditioning paradigms as long as they can be properly paired with other reinforcing stimuli. Caution is needed in determining the strength of stimuli, however, in order to ensure that they fall within the detection range of zebrafish.

In addition to sensory threshold and perceptual capabilities of zebrafish, evolution may favor certain innate biases; thus making careful selection of conditioned stimuli even more crucial (Spence et al., 2008). Innate biases result in stronger or weaker responses to certain stimuli (Basolo, 2000). For example, although zebrafish are capable of colour discrimination, there are contradictory reports on their innate colour biases. In one study,

zebrafish were reported to have an innate red colour bias when foraging for food (Spence and Smith, 2008). In contrast, Colwill et al. (2005) found a significant baseline bias toward purple in a colour discrimination paradigm. However, the discrepancies between these studies could have resulted from differences in the environment in which fish were raised (Spence and Smith, 2008).

Also, there is limited literature on appropriate unconditioned stimuli for zebrafish. Food has been widely used as a positive reinforcer in associative conditioning; however, the motivational value of food depends on physiology of the animal model. Feeding behaviour in zebrafish does not resemble that of rodents. In contrast to rodents that require a constant supply of nutrients, zebrafish are found to be satiated quickly after a number of trials, limiting the effectiveness of food as a rewarding stimulus (Gerlai, 2011).

The choice of appropriate reinforcers in learning paradigms also requires knowledge about the species specific behaviours which predispose animals to perceive certain stimuli as rewarding. An example of such behaviour in zebrafish is shoaling. Shoaling is an innate tendency of zebrafish to swim in close proximity to one another (Engeszer et al., 2007a). As a result, sight of conspecifics is an alternative choice of reward for individual zebrafish (Al-Imari and Gerlai, 2008).

1.4 Adult Associative Learning Paradigms

A variety of conditioning paradigms for adult zebrafish have been described in recent years, with each paradigm possessing particular strengths and limitations. For example, several aversive conditioning paradigms have been developed, including ones that employ electric shock associated with changes in lighting of observation tanks

(Gleason et al., 1977; Pradel et al., 1999; Xu et al., 2007; Agetsuma et al., 2012). Generally, such use of aversive electrical shocks is highly effective (Blank et al., 2009), but may also have direct effects on patterns of electrophysiological activity in aquatic animals, potentially confounding further studies of associated brain mechanisms or function (Gerlai, 2011). Appetitive paradigms, including the association of food with a particular location or with discrete visual or olfactory cues (Braubach et al., 2009; Sison and Gerlai, 2010; Chacon and Luchiari, 2014), avoid delivery of external electrical stimuli, but the use of food as a reward can be complicated by satiation, as mentioned above, limiting the rate of training.

One major issue common to all these paradigms is that they require special mazes or observation tanks. Periods of acclimation are therefore needed before behavioural assays can be performed (Sison and Gerlai, 2010). Handling during transfer to such special apparatus, including netting, has been shown to increase cortisol levels significantly (Ramsay et al., 2009), potentially confounding analysis.

Isolation has been shown to increase stress hormone levels and acclimatization period in zebrafish, suggesting that group training may be more compatible with their social nature (Kalueff et al., 2014). Therefore, even with long periods of habitation to their new training environment, responses of isolated fish may not fully correspond with their behaviour in the home tank where they are normally maintained.

Furthermore, most existing paradigms are time- and labour-intensive, requiring large numbers of pairings usually performed manually. Requirements for such extended acclimation and manual execution of experiments reduce the usefulness of such paradigms for high-throughput screening (Gerlai, 2010). These issues could be overcome

through automation for precise and reliable delivery of the conditioned stimuli with food, preventing inconsistencies or disruptions in the temporal contiguity of pairings.

1.5 SPATIAL LEARNING IN ZEBRAFISH

In addition to classical conditioning, other forms of learning such as spatial learning have been observed in zebrafish. Spatial learning requires animals to learn the relationships among environmental cues and construct a map of their environment; hence spatial learning may be considered as a more complex form of associative learning (O'Keefe and Nadel, 1979). Spatial learning paradigms such as the Morris water maze (Morris, 1984) or radial arm maze (Olton et al., 1977) are well established in rodent models. Some studies have found that zebrafish are capable of using external environmental cues to navigate towards food or a conspecific reward (proximity to a group of zebrafish) in a maze or tank (Braubach et al., 2009; Sison and Gerlai, 2010; Karnik and Gerlai, 2012). These studies suggest that zebrafish are also capable of higher, more complex forms of learning.

1.6 SOCIAL EFFECTS ON LEARNING

Social behaviour is also known to play a key role in the way zebrafish learn. Groups of five adult zebrafish in an avoidance learning paradigm were found to learn faster than individuals, though single fish still performed better than pairs (Gleason et al., 1977). In addition, an increased response to an appetitive olfactory stimulus has been observed in groups of four fish which decreased in groups of two, six, or eight compared to individual fish (Steele et al., 1991). These experiments suggest that the type of task and environment may affect the optimal group size for faster learning. It has also been suggested that social facilitation may be involved in group conditioning. Mixing naïve

fish with conditioned fish has shown that the mixed group not only demonstrated the conditioned response but also naïve fish tested individually acquired the conditioned response, suggesting the transmission of conditioned response from trained fish to naïve individuals (Suboski et al., 1990). These results imply that fish can learn by observing the behaviour of other fish (Brown and Laland, 2003) and further reinforce the value of group training as it reduces variability between animals and shortens training.

1.7 LEARNING IN DEVELOPING ZEBRAFISH

Despite strong evidence showing that adult zebrafish can be conditioned, the cognitive capabilities of developing zebrafish are relatively unexplored, and is not clear when they start to exhibit conditioned responses (Spence et al., 2008; Roberts et al., 2013). Measuring behaviour in juvenile and larval is also more challenging due to their limited mobility. These smaller fish have trouble navigating in the water column as their swim bladder, which controls buoyancy, is not fully functional until approximately 30 days post-fertilization (dpf) (Robertson et al., 2007; Winata et al., 2009). Also, until the first week larva depend on the yolk sac for feeding, making it difficult to train them with food rewards. As a result, the number of learning paradigms in larvae and juvenile zebrafish is limited (Roberts et al., 2013). Studies in juvenile fish have shown robust conditioned responses to visual cues paired with electric shock, beginning at 3 weeks and reaching the same performance level as adults by 6 weeks (Lee et al., 2010; Valente et al., 2012). Juveniles 3-4 weeks in age could not learn a spatial learning task in which fish have to alternate between two sides of a tank to get food. However, fish 6-8 weeks old reliably learned the task as well as or better than adults (Williams et al., 2002). It is not clear whether the lack of learning is due to the limited cognitive capacity or limited

mobility of younger fish (Spence et al., 2008). A simpler paradigm using innate behaviours such as feeding may be more successful with juvenile zebrafish.

1.8 FUNCTIONAL MAPPING

Understanding the circuits responsible for learning and memory has been the goal of many neurobehavioral studies. The application of zebrafish as a reliable neurobiological animal model for human neurological diseases relies on accurate determination of homologous regions between zebrafish and mammalian brains. The hippocampus is necessary for formation and consolidation of certain types of memory in mammals (Jarrard, 1993; Broadbent et al., 2004). However, it is thought that new memories are then transferred to the cortex over time and established as long-term memories (Jarrard, 1993; Frankland et al., 2004; Maviel et al., 2004; Frankland and Bontempi, 2005; Teixeira et al., 2006). In addition, a subset of cortical neurons has been shown to activate soon after learning (Yasuda and Mayford, 2006; Lesburguères et al., 2011; Tse et al., 2011).

The networks underlying learning and memory in zebrafish are not well understood. Historically, the zebrafish brain was seen as a primitive structure with minimal anatomical (e.g., lamination) or functional divisions compared to mammals (Aoki et al., 2013; Key, 2015). However, more recent developmental, behavioural, ablation and electrophysiological studies collectively suggest that the telencephalon in zebrafish contains discrete regions including those involved in learning and memory. The dorsal part of the telencephalon is known as the pallium and the ventral area is described as the subpallium (Figure 1.1) (Ganz et al., 2014). Several studies have also suggested that the dorsolateral part of the pallium is functionally homologous to the hippocampus

and that the medial pallium corresponds to the amygdala which is involved in emotional conditioning (Rodríguez et al., 2002; Portavella et al., 2004; Salas et al., 2006; Broglio et al., 2010). Hippocampal-like sharp waves in anterior dorsolateral pallium have been observed in addition to pharmacological similarities to the rodent hippocampus (Vargas et al., 2012). More recently, it has been suggested that the central zone of the dorsal telencephalon is homologous to the mammalian isocortex (Mueller and Wullimann, 2009; Mueller et al., 2011; Northcutt, 2011).



Figure 1.1. Coronal section of adult zebrafish illustrating telencephalic subdivisions. The telencephalon is divided into a dorsal section (pallium; P) and a ventral section (subpallium; Sp). The pallium is divided into a medial section (Dm), lateral section (Dl), central zone (Dc), posterior zone (Dp) and dorsal region of dorsal telencephalon (Dd). Used with permission from Mueller et al., (2011).

1.8.1 Visualizing Calcium Activity

Calcium imaging in adult zebrafish has revealed localised activity in the central zone of the dorsal telencephalon during the retrieval of an active avoidance association. Ablations of this central region inhibited retrieval of long-term memory, but did not affect learning (Aoki et al., 2013). This study supports previous studies suggesting that the central zone may have some similar functions to that of the mammalian cortex. This is the only report of long-term memory visualization *in vivo* and has yet to be confirmed.

Some types of associative learning are not telencephalon-dependent. Cerebellardependent learning has also been observed in larva that were classically conditioned to associate light with a tactile stimulus. This type of learning was associated with increased calcium activity in the cerebellum. However, ablation of the cerebellum only affected acquisition and extinction and not retention of the memory (Aizenberg and Schuman, 2011). These results suggest that this associative memory may be stored in other regions, possibly in dorsal telencephalon.

1.8.2 Alternative Visualization Techniques

Although calcium imaging allows for visualization of brain activity during certain learning tasks, it is restricted to partially immobilised fish. Furthermore, there are relatively few learning paradigms suited for restrained zebrafish. In addition, immobilisation limits behavioural responses which are useful indicators for detecting learned responses. One alternative to live calcium imaging is CaMPARI (calciummodulated photoactivatable ratiometric integrator), which allows visualization of neural activity in freely swimming fish. However, this technique is limited primarily to larval

stages or transparent lines, due to the extent of light penetration which is required for activation of CaMPARI indicator (Fosque et al., 2015).

Neural activity can be also be detected by examining phosphorylation of activated extracellular receptor kinases (ERKs) and expression of immediate early genes (IEGs) such as c-Fos (Chatterjee et al., 2015; Randlett et al., 2015). Calcium influx caused by membrane depolarization triggers a mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) cascade that ultimately results in phosphorylation of ERKs. ERKs are serine/threonine kinases with downstream targets including transcription factors such as CREB and Elk and c-Fos that in turn regulate downstream transcription of a number of genes involved in protein synthesis, long term plasticity and memory formation (Thomas and Huganir, 2004; Randlett et al., 2015). Phosphorylated ERK (pERK) has some advantages compared to c-Fos, as it has higher temporal resolution and reaches a detectable level in the cytoplasm within 5 minutes (min) of neural activity (Ji et al., 1999; Dai et al., 2002; Cancedda et al., 2003; Gao and Ji, 2009). In comparison, c-Fos protein expression peaks between 1-2 hours (hrs) after acute stimulation (Kovács, 1998; Okuyama et al., 2011).

Several studies in rodents have demonstrated the involvement of ERK in cascades underlying long-term memory. For instance, retrieval of a fear conditioning association was found to be ERK dependent with up-regulation of pERK in rat hippocampus 1 hour (h) after training (Atkins et al., 1998). Others have also shown that inhibition of ERK impaired spatial learning and memory (Blum et al., 1999; Selcher et al., 1999). These studies collectively provide evidence for the involvement of ERK in hippocampaldependent acquisition and memory retrieval in rodents.

In zebrafish, pERK has been used to examine neuronal activity in larvae. Upregulation of pERK was observed in response to short periods of light-pulse stimulation, hunting and feeding and exposure to noxious stimuli, such as electric shock. Moreover, the pattern of pERK immunoreactivity overlapped activity map obtained by calcium imaging (Randlett et al., 2015). These findings provided evidence that pERK is a reliable indicator of neuronal activity in response to a wide range of external stimulations in zebrafish brain. Despite the high temporal resolution of pERK for labeling active neurons and its involvement in memory cascades, no studies have previously used pERK to study neural activity underlying telencephalic dependent learning and memory in zebrafish.

1.9 Objectives

Given the usefulness of zebrafish as a novel model for studying learning and memory and the demand for behavioural paradigms compatible with their ecology, this study had the following objectives:

- Develop an automated, easily reconfigurable appetitive system that can be used to condition groups of both adult and juvenile zebrafish in their home tanks.
- 2. Examine the efficiency of the developed paradigm to characterize the rate of acquisition and duration of memory retention for auditory conditioning in groups of both adult and juvenile zebrafish.
- Determine if fish removed from a group after conditioning could also demonstrate the learned response when tested for retention individually, in order to test the effectiveness of group conditioning.

4. Examine whether alterations in neural activity in the telencephalon are associated with memory retrieval, using pERK immunostaining.

CHAPTER 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 ANIMALS

Wild-type adult zebrafish, 3.5-4.0 cm in length were obtained from PetSmart (Bedford, NS, CAN). AB strain juvenile zebrafish, 49 and 30 days post-fertilization (dpf), 10-14 mm and 7.8-10 mm in length, respectively were provided by the Faculty of Medicine, Zebrafish Core Facility (Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, CAN). Adult and juvenile fish were housed as mixed-gender groups of five fish in 3 litre (L) and 1.5 L plastic tanks (Pentair Aquatic Eco-Systems, Apopkoka, FL, USA), respectively, beginning at least two days prior to experimentation. The fish were maintained on a 14:10 hour (h) light: dark cycle and in municipal water (28.5°C) that had undergone reverse osmosis and was then treated with 600 mg Instant Ocean (United Pet Group, Blacksburg, VA, USA) and 26.4 mg sodium bicarbonate (Pentair Aquatic Eco-Systems, Apopkoka, FL, USA) per L. Each tank was provided with a water flow of 13-14 L/h while on the recirculating zebrafish housing system. Adult fish were normally fed twice daily using 300-500 µm pellets of Golden Pearl Reef Diet (Brine Shrimp Direct, Ogden, UT, USA). Juvenile zebrafish were fed once daily using 200-500 µm GEMMA Micro Food (Skretting, Westbrook, ME, USA). All experiments were conducted in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care standards and guidelines.

2.2 EXPERIMENTAL APPARATUS

For training and testing, each home tank of five fish was moved to a specialised rack partitioned into three arenas, each containing one fish tank (Figure 2.1). Arenas were separated from one another by white corrugated plastic sheets (Coroplast, Granby, QC, CAN), and the back wall of the enclosure was covered in translucent white nylon fabric,

which diffused the room lights or light-emitting diode (LED) backlighting for each tank (1600 lumen LED work lights, Snap-on, Kenosha, WI, USA). While on the training/testing rack, each tank was provided with recirculating water from either a dedicated 40 L reservoir for adults or the recirculating zebrafish housing system (Pentair Aquatic Eco-Systems, Apopkoka, FL, USA) for juvenile experiments.

A micro controller (Arduino Uno, Arduino, Ivrea, ITA) with an associated motor control board (shield) (Product ID: 1438), auditory wave shield (Product ID: 94) and DS1307 real time clock (Product ID: 264) from Adafruit, New York, NY, USA was used to control automatic feeders and to present the auditory stimulus. Arduino programs (sketches) were created in the Arduino integrated development environment (Arduino, 2014) utilizing the following libraries to control the experiments: Time (Margolis, 2016), TimeAlarms (Margolis, 2014), Motorshield (Adafruit, 2016) and waveHC (Adafruit, 2015). See Appendix B for Arduino sketches.

An automatic feeder, produced with a 3D printer (Replicator 2, Makerbot, New York, NY, USA) using biodegradable polylactic acid thermoplastic was placed over an existing hole in the lid of each tank (Figure 2.1). Food was placed in the hopper of each feeder and could be dispensed using a stepper motor (Sparkfun, Niwot, CO, USA) which turned a 5 mm steel drill bit. The bit served as an auger to dispense approximately 10, 4 or 2 mg of food for adult, 49 dpf and 30 dfp fish, respectively. A white plastic divider was placed at the level of the water, 6.5 cm from the front of the 3 L, to keep the dispensed food floating near the feeder.

Auditory stimuli were presented to the fish using an 8 Ohm bone conduction sound transducer (Product ID: 1674) (Adafruit, New York, NY, USA) which was

centered laterally and vertically underneath the outflow at the back of each tank, (Figure 2.1). The auditory conditioned stimulus consisted of frequency modulated (FM) half second (sec) ascending and descending tone sweep between 100 and 1000 hertz (Hz) (Sweep Tone Generator, http://www.audiocheck.net), amplified to half of the rated output power of the wave shield (0.125 Watts). This auditory stimulus was selected based on previous evidence showing maximum sensitivity to this range of frequencies (Cervi et al., 2012). To indicate when the auditory stimulus was administered, a 5 mm red LED (Digi-Key, Thief River Falls, MN, USA) was placed on the lid of each tank, partially occluded by heat shrink tubing to allow detection by video recording equipment (see below) but not by the fish.



Figure 2.1. Behavioural apparatus for auditory conditioning in home tanks. Panel A and B illustrate the positions of control and experimental fish, respectively, during the presentation of conditioned stimulus. Bone conduction sound transducers were used for the presentation of the auditory stimulus. Food pellets were dispensed by the automatic feeder located above the tank. Panel C illustrates the position of camera relative to the tank.

2.3 CONDITIONING

Training consisted of 10 sessions during the light period on each of two consecutive days. Inter-trial intervals of 34-108 minutes (min) were selected from those produced using a random time generator (Random Time Generator, http://www.random.org). Conditioning was performed by playing the FM tone sweep for a 20-sec period. The conditioned stimulus was immediately followed by the presentation of the food reward from the automatic feeder. In trials with control fish, the unconditioned stimulus (food) did not immediately follow the conditioned stimulus, but was instead administered at the midpoint of the auditory inter-stimulus interval except for the last trial in which it was administered 17-54 min later.

After the completion of training for adults, the feeders, plastic dividers and sound transducers were removed from each tank. These tanks were then moved back to the racks on which they were regularly maintained, and normal care was resumed until animals were tested for memory retention. Tanks with juvenile fish were left on the training/testing rack for the duration of experiments.

2.4 PROBE TRIALS

Probe trials to test memory retention were conducted at various times after training. Fish were either tested in the groups in which they were trained or were tested individually. For adult group testing, the entire tanks of five fish were moved from the maintenance racks back to the observation arenas, and the upper divider that prevented dispersion of the food was replaced as a visual landmark at one end of the tank. The sound transducer was also reattached to the tank. For testing single fish, one animal at a time was removed from each of the maintenance tanks and transferred to a new tank

equipped with the food divider and the sound transducer. All adult fish were transferred back to the observation arenas one day before testing in order to re-acclimate them to the apparatus. On the day of testing, fish were exposed to the auditory stimulus for 20 sec without the food reward. Each group or individual fish was given only a single probe trial at 2, 4, 8, 16 or 32 days after training.

2.5 DATA COLLECTION AND ANALYSIS

A single camera was centered along one side of each tank in the observation arenas such that the outflow was on the right. Experiments were video recorded either in black and white at a resolution of 640x480 pixels (HCM5748 camera from Honeywell Video Systems, Louisville, KY, USA) or in colour at a resolution of 1280x720 pixels (C930e camera from Logitech, Newark, CA, USA). Surveillance software (iSpy, http://www.ispyconnect.com or Novex, Toronto, ON, CAN) permitted recording timestamped video files from multiple cameras simultaneously. Videos were recorded at or converted to 6 frames/sec and were then trimmed to 40 sec clips (VirtualDub, http://www.virtualdub.org) covering the 20 sec immediately before exposure to the auditory or visual conditioned stimulus and the 20 sec period during presentation of the conditioned stimulus.

The behaviour of groups of fish during acquisition and probe trials was analysed using a program (Wyeth et al., 2011) developed in Matlab (The Mathworks Inc., Natick, MA, USA). Average positional values for the group were generated as mean vertical and horizontal locations of the individual fish. The behaviour of single fish in probe trials was analysed in ImageJ (Schindelin et al., 2015) using the built-in Manual Tracking plugin. We also reanalysed the tracks of individual fish from acquisition groups in three control

and three experimental tanks using the Manual Tracking plugin since this plugin generated vertical and horizontal positional values for each fish in each frame and allowed for analysis of factors such as velocity and turn angle of individuals and nearest neighbour analysis for group acquisitions. However, because no significant differences were found in any of these measures in preliminary experiments, they were excluded from further analysis and only the positional values were examined.

The average vertical (Y) and horizontal (X) positions of the fish in each tank were calculated for the 20 sec **before** the presentation of the conditioned stimulus and compared to average coordinates **during** presentation of the stimulus. These coordinates were measured relative to the food source as the common origin. This comparison is similar to what has been previously used to analyse responses of fish to the presentation of odours (Hussain et al., 2013), and to examine effects of stress on the position of fish relative to the bottom of the tank (Tran et al., 2016). These horizontal and vertical positions were combined into a single measure using the following equation d = $\sqrt{(X^2 + Y^2)}$ corresponding to the distance from the food source. The distances during presentation of the conditioned stimulus (d during) were then subtracted from the distances before the stimulus (d before). This subtraction was also performed independently for vertical and horizontal positions (X before - X during and Y before -Y during). Positive subtraction scores for vertical coordinates correspond to upward movements towards the surface, and positive scores for horizontal coordinates correspond to a lateral movement toward the end of the tank with the food source, regardless of initial positions. Positive combined distance scores correspond to movement towards the food source. However, adult fish exhibited a substantial latency in

responding to the conditioned stimulus and therefore average positions were only calculated during the last 10 sec of the 20 sec stimulus presentation. Juvenile fish showed a shorter latency and therefore average positions were calculated during the last 15 sec of the 20 sec stimulus presentation.

Linear mixed-effects models were used to analyse the acquisition data. Models included conditioning treatment and trial number as fixed effects, and two random effects for the tanks (both intercept and by-trial slope). Log-likelihood ratio tests compared reduced models with only main effects for conditioning treatment and trial versus the full model including both main effects and the interaction between the two. Differences in Akaike's Information Criterion (ΔAIC) were also examined to determine which model (reduced vs. full) better fitted the data, with $\Delta AIC=0$ denoting no difference in the two models (Burnham and Anderson, 2004). Conclusions paralleled those from the loglikelihood test P-values, with full models showing ΔAIC values >10 over the reduced models for all adult acquisition tests. Juvenile $\triangle AIC$ values were <10 (1.5-7.4) with the exception of vertical position for 49 fish. In all cases, residual plots showed no major deviations from normality or homoscedasticity. Two-way full factorial analyses of variance (ANOVAs; with conditioning and probe time factors) and Welch two sample ttests were conducted for the probe trials in adults and juveniles, respectively. All analyses were performed in R (R Core Team, 2016) with the help of the following packages: nlme (Pinheiro J et al., 2016), effects (Fox, 2003), car (Fox and Weisberg, 2011), ggplot (Wickham, 2009), siplot (Lüdecke, 2016), plotly (Sievert et al., 2016). P-values are reported in text but for full statistical analyses see Appendix C (adult data), Appendix D (49 dpf juvenile data) and Appendix E (30 dpf juvenile data).

2.6 IMMUNOHISTOCHEMISTRY

Juvenile zebrafish 30 dpf (at the start of training) were euthanized immediately following the presentation of the auditory sweep during 2-day probe trials by immersion in cold (< 4°C) 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA; Electron Microscopy Sciences, Hartfield, PA, USA) in phosphate buffered saline (PBS: 50 mM Na₂HPO₄, 140 mM NaCl, pH 7.4) for approximately 5 min. Fish were then decapitated and the heads fixed in 4% fresh PFA overnight at 4°C. The next day the heads were rinsed in PBS and dissected to isolate the brain which was then post fixed in 4% PFA for 1-2 hrs at room temperature. Brains were washed three times (5-10 min each) in PBS and transferred to PBS-T containing 0.1% Triton X-100 (X100; Sigma-Aldrich), 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA; A9576; Sigma-Aldrich), and 2% dimethylsulfoxide (D128-1; Fisher Chemical) for 48 hrs at 4°C. Samples were then incubated with gentle agitation for 5-7 days at 4°C with the primary antibody against pERK (Cell Signaling, 4370), in order to localise neuronal activity underlying associative memory. The primary antibody was diluted 1:400 in PBS-T. This antibody has previously been used as an indicator of neuronal activity in zebrafish larvae (Randlett et al., 2015) and adult olfactory bulbs (Yabuki et al., 2016) and sensory neurons (Hussain et al., 2013). Also, specificity of the antibody for pERK in zebrafish was previously established by Western blot using the immunogen (Hussain et al., 2013). As a control for non-specific staining by the secondary antibody, brains were processed without the primary antibody. These control brains exhibited no immunoreactivity.

Brains were rinsed three times (20 min each) in PBS-T and incubated with a donkey anti-rabbit secondary antibody conjugated to AlexaFluor 488 (Life Technologies, Burlington, Ontario, CAN) for 5-7 days at 4°C with gentle agitation. The secondary

antibody was diluted in a solution of PBS-T with a final concentration of 1:100. Brain were then washed in PBS and immersed in Scale CUBIC-1 clearing solution (Susaki et al., 2014) for 2 days at 4°C.

Brains were mounted as whole-mounts of the telencephalon with the dorsal surface facing up on glass slides, in wells cut out of 3 layers of electrical tape adhered to the slide. Wells were then filled with gelvatol mounting medium (Center for Biologic Imaging, 2016) to prevent movement. Slides were finally sealed with a coverslip using nail polish and kept at 4°C prior to imaging.

2.7 MICROCOPY AND IMAGE ANALYSIS

Samples were viewed using a Zeiss LSM 510 laser scanning confocal microscope with a 25X oil immersion objective (Carl Zeiss Inc., Thornwood, NY, USA). Image stacks were captured using Zeiss Zen 2009 software at an interval of 0.89 µm to a maximum depth of 129.36 µm and at a resolution of 1024 x 1024 pixels. Other settings including scan speed, laser intensity, pinhole size, gain and digital offset were maintained among all samples to ensure consistency and to allow direct unbiased comparisons between preparations (Forero and Hidalgo, 2011).

Confocal stacks were viewed and processed using Vaa3D (Peng et al., 2010, 2014a, 2014b) and Fiji (Schindelin et al., 2012) with the BoneJ Particle Analyser plugin (Doube et al., 2010) and Analyze Particles. Simple adaptive thresholding was performed on all images stacks in Vaa3D, as it provided more reliable segmentation of neurons than global thresholding in Fiji. Adaptive thresholding assigns values to different regions of an image based on the intensity, controlling for variation, whereas global thresholding assigns the same value to the whole image regardless of intensity (Forero and Hidalgo, 2011). Stacks

were then converted to 8-bit binaries in Fiji and cell counting was performed using Particle Analyser. These 3D cell counts were divided by the surface area of the maximum intensity projections, to account for variation in brain size, creating a cell density index (cells per μ m²). In order to further localize immunoreactivity within the dorsal telencephalon, regions of interest (ROIs) were created in each hemisphere with the aid of a zebrafish atlas (Wullimann et al., 1996). Hemispheres were split into lateral and medial halves; these were then subdivided into anterior and posterior regions creating 4 ROIs (quadrants). Quantification was performed by measuring the immunoreactive area of the ROIs in the maximum intensity projection (using Analyze Particles). In order to control for brain size, these values were then divided by the surface area of the telencephalon, resulting in an immunoreactive area (%) (Renno et al., 2014). Immunoreactive area (%) was used instead of the cell density index for regional analysis, as Particle Analyser did not support ROIs. Also, other cell counting plugins could not accurately resolve overlapping neurons. A Welch two sample t-test and two-way ANOVA (with conditioning and quadrant factors) were then conducted in R (R Core Team, 2016) for the resulting cell density index and immunoreactive area (%) values, respectively. Post-hoc, Welch two sample t-tests were conducted to identify regional differences in immunoreactive area (%) between the brains of control and experimental fish.
CHAPTER 3 RESULTS

3.1 AUDITORY CONDITIONING AND MEMORY RETENTION OF ADULT FISH

3.1.1 Acquisition of Appetitive Conditioning

Both experimental and control fish were observed to swim over much of the depth and length of the tank during the 20 second (sec) period before presentation of the FM tone sweep, with the mean position of the fish being near the center of the tank (Figure 3.1A, Supplemental Movie 1). During training, the control groups, which were presented food with variable delays following the FM sweep, continued a similar swimming pattern in the 20 sec period that the auditory stimulus was presented. In contrast, the experimental fish, which were presented with a food reward directly after each FM sweep, increasingly spent more time near the feeding location during the presentation of the auditory stimulus as training progressed (Figure 3.1B, Supplemental Movie 2).



Figure 3.1. Instantaneous positions of five zebrafish in a control (A) and experimental tank (B) during trial 20.

Time interval from 20 sec before and 20 sec during the presentation of auditory stimulus. The colour scale refers to the time (s) when corresponding areas were occupied by the five fish. The mean positions of the group before, and during the last 10 sec of, the auditory stimulus are indicated by black and white squares, respectively. Mean movement in the control tank was 2.10 cm away from the food source and mean movement in the experimental tank was 10.11 cm toward the food source Figure 3.2A shows this progressive movement of experimental (but not control) fish away from their initial mean position near the centre of the tank and closer to the corner in which food was presented as training proceeded. Analysis of linear mixed effects models confirmed a significant interaction between conditioning and training trial $(\chi^2(1)=39.45, p<0.001)$. The experimental and control group scores appeared to begin to diverge after only a few trials and bootstrapped confidence intervals suggested that by the 5-8th training trial the experimental groups were moving consistently toward the food source during the presentation of the auditory stimulus. The fish at trial 11 (first trial of the second day) showed no apparent forgetting from the previous day (Figure 3.2A).

Separate analyses of horizontal and vertical components of the movements each showed significant interactions between condition and training trial (vertical: $\chi^2(1)=$ 25.528, p<0.001, Figure 3.3A; horizontal: $\chi^2(1)=$ 32.471, p<0.001, Figure 3.4A) suggesting fish learned to adjust both their depth and horizontal position in the tank in response to the conditioning auditory stimulus.

3.1.2 Memory Retention in Groups of Fish

In order to examine whether the memory for the association between the auditory stimulus and the food reward was retained after the acquisition period, we tested the groups of fish for their responses to the auditory stimulus alone with probe trials at 2 and 16 days following training (represented as circles in Figure 3.2B). A two-way ANOVA on the movement of fish towards the feeding location, revealed a significant overall effect of conditioning (p=0.001) and a significant interaction between conditioning and day of retention (p=0.007) but no significant effect of retention day (p>0.05). Therefore, our data indicate that the memory is retained for at least 2 days and that there is a decline in

the strength of the memory over 16 days. An analysis of only the vertical component of movement showed a significant effect of conditioning (two-way ANOVA, p=0.020) but no effect of retention day or interaction between conditioning and retention day (both p>0.05; Figure 3.3B). Finally, analysis of the horizontal components of the movement indicated no effect of retention day (two-way ANOVA, p>0.05; Figure 3.4B), but a significant effect of conditioning (p=0.001) and a significant effect of interaction between condition and day of retention (p=0.007), thus supporting the analysis of the vertical movements of the fish.

3.1.3 Memory Retention in Individual Fish

We considered the possibility that only dominant fish in each group actually learned the conditioned association, with subordinate fish merely following in the shoal. To determine whether fish trained in groups actually learned and retained memories of the conditioned associations and to attempt a better determination of the duration of memory retention, we performed additional probe trials using single fish at 2, 4, 8, 16 and 32 days post training. An analysis of movement towards the feeding location showed a significant overall effect of conditioning (two-way ANOVA, p=0.002; represented as triangles in Figure 3.2B), but no effect of retention day or interaction between retention day and condition (both p>0.05). Two-way ANOVAs on the vertical and horizontal data also showed a significant effect of conditioning (p<0.001; Figure 3.3B & p=0.038; Figure 3.4B, respectively) but no effect of retention day or interaction between retention day and conditioning (all p>0.05). Therefore, the fish showed retention of memory during the period of 2-32 days but the data did not permit definitive assessment of the time course of memory decline during this period.



Figure 3.2. Adult zebrafish in the experimental group moved away from their initial positions towards the food source as a result of conditioning to the auditory stimulus. This response increased throughout the training trials. Zebrafish in the control group did not move toward the food source in response to the auditory stimulus (A). When tested for retention, trained groups and individuals moved closer to the food source compared to controls (B). Data points are mean distance from the food source before the FM tone sweep minus mean distance from the food source during the FM tone sweep. Numbers beside data points represent replicates for individuals (single fish) and groups (each containing 5 fish) in each condition. Error bars = \pm s.e.m.



Figure 3.3. Adult zebrafish in the experimental group moved vertically from their initial positions towards the surface as a result of conditioning to the auditory stimulus. This response increased throughout the training trials. Zebrafish in the control group did not move toward the surface in response to the auditory stimulus (A). When tested for retention, trained groups and individuals moved closer to the surface compared to controls (B). Data points are mean vertical position before the FM tone sweep minus mean vertical position during the FM tone sweep. Numbers beside data points represent replicates for individuals (single fish) and groups (each containing 5 fish) in each condition. Error bars = \pm s.e.m.



Figure 3.4. Adult zebrafish in the experimental group moved laterally from their initial positions towards the food source as a result of conditioning to the auditory stimulus. This response increased throughout the training trials. Zebrafish in the control group did not move laterally towards the food source in response to the auditory stimulus (A). When tested for retention, trained groups and individuals moved closer, laterally, towards the food source compared to controls (B). Data points are mean horizontal position before the FM tone sweep minus mean horizontal position during the FM tone sweep. Numbers beside data points represent replicates for individuals (single fish) and groups (each containing 5 fish) in each condition. Error bars $= \pm$ s.e.m.

3.2 AUDITORY CONDITIONING AND MEMORY RETENTION OF JUVENILE FISH (49 dpf)

Next, we examined whether the paradigm that was effective in rapidly conditioning adult fish was also applicable to juvenile fish.

3.2.1 Acquisition of Appetitive Conditioning

Similar to the behaviour observed during conditioning of adult fish, the juvenile fish (49 dpf) also swam closer to the food source during the presentation of the auditory stimulus that was paired with food. Figure 3.5A shows the movement of experimental fish towards the corner of the tank in which food was presented as training proceeded. Analysis of linear mixed effects models confirmed a significant interaction between conditioning and training trial ($\chi^2(1)=9.4213$, p=0.002). Bootstrapped confidence intervals again suggested that by the 10-13th training trial, the experimental groups were moving consistently closer to the food source during the presentation of the auditory stimulus. Separate analyses of horizontal and vertical components of the movements each indicated significant interactions between condition and training trial (vertical: $\chi^2(1)=16.048$, p<0.001, Figure 3.6A; horizontal: $\chi^2(1)=7.1794$, p=0.007, Figure 3.7A) suggesting fish learned to adjust both their depth and horizontal position in the tank in response to the conditioning auditory stimulus.

3.2.2 Memory Retention for Groups of Fish

We again examined the retention of the memories for the paired associations by testing groups of juvenile fish (49 dpf) for their responses to the auditory stimulus alone with probe trials 2 days after training (Figure 3.5B) and found that the 2 day experimental group was significantly different from the control group (Welch two sample t-test,

p<0.046), indicating that the experimental groups retained the memory of the association between the auditory stimulus and the presentation of food. An analysis of the vertical component of the data indicated a significant difference between the control and the experimental data (Welch two sample t-test, p=0.002; Figure 3.6B). However, analysis of the horizontal data showed no significant difference between the control and experimental values (Welch two sample t-test, p>0.05; Figure 3.7B).



Figure 3.5. Juvenile zebrafish (49 dpf) in the experimental group moved away from their initial positions towards the food source as a result of conditioning to the auditory stimulus.

This response increased throughout the training trials. Zebrafish in the control group did not move toward the food source in response to the auditory stimulus (A). When tested for retention in groups after 2 days, trained fish moved closer to the food source compared to controls (B). Data points are mean distance from the food source before the FM tone sweep minus mean distance from the food source during the FM tone sweep. Numbers beside data points represent replicates for groups of 5 fish in each condition. Error bars = \pm s.e.m.



Figure 3.6. Juvenile zebrafish (49 dpf) in the experimental group moved vertically from their initial positions towards the surface as a result of conditioning to the auditory stimulus.

This response increased throughout the training trials. Zebrafish in the control group did not move toward the surface in response to the auditory stimulus (A). When tested for retention in groups after 2 days, trained fish moved closer to the surface compared to controls (B). Data points are mean vertical position before the FM tone sweep minus mean vertical position during the FM tone sweep. Numbers beside data points represent replicates for groups of 5 fish in each condition. Error bars = \pm s.e.m.



Figure 3.7. Juvenile zebrafish (49 dpf) in the experimental group moved laterally from their initial positions towards the food source as a result of conditioning to the auditory stimulus.

This response increased throughout the training trials. Zebrafish in the control group did not move toward the food source in response to the auditory stimulus (A). When tested for retention in groups after 2 days, trained fish did not move closer, laterally, to the food source compared to controls (B). Data points are mean horizontal position before the FM tone sweep minus mean horizontal position during the FM tone sweep. Numbers beside data points represent replicates for groups of 5 fish in each condition. Error bars = \pm s.e.m.

3.3 AUDITORY CONDITIONING AND MEMORY RETENTION OF YOUNGER JUVENILE FISH (30 DPF)

Finally, we examined whether younger juvenile zebrafish could also learn the association.

3.3.1 Acquisition of Appetitive Conditioning

As with older juveniles, 30 dpf fish came to swim closer to the food source during the presentation of an auditory stimulus that was paired with food. Figure 3.8A shows this progressive tendency of fish in the conditioning treatment (but not those in the control treatment) to swim closer to the corner of the tank in which food was presented as training progressed. Analysis of linear mixed effects models confirmed a significant interaction between conditioning and training trial ($\chi^2(1)=5.1038$, p=0.024). Bootstrapped confidence intervals suggested that by the 8-10th training trial, the experimental groups were moving consistently toward the food source during the presentation of the auditory stimulus. Analysis of the vertical component of movement showed no significant interaction between conditioning and training trials ($\chi^2(1)=3.4757$, p>0.05, Figure 3.9A). Analysis of horizontal components of the movements each showed significant interactions between conditioning and training trials ($\chi^2(1)=5.2002$, p=0.023, Figure 3.10A) suggesting fish learned to adjust their horizontal position in the tank in response to the conditioning auditory stimulus.

3.3.2 Memory Retention for Groups of Fish

To examine whether the association between the auditory stimulus and the food reward was retained after training in the 30 dpf juvenile fish, we tested the groups of fish for their responses to the auditory stimulus alone with probe trials 2 days after training (Figure 3.8B). A Welch two sample t-test on the movement of fish towards the feeding location revealed a significant difference between the experimental and control group (p<0.001) indicating that experimental groups moved closer to the food source compared to controls. Separate analysis of the vertical and horizontal components of movement each showed significant differences between control and experimental groups (vertical: p<0.001, Figure 3.9B; horizontal: p<0.001, Figure 3.10B).



Figure 3.8. Juvenile zebrafish (30 dpf) in the experimental group moved away from their initial positions towards the food source as a result of conditioning to the auditory stimulus.

This response increased throughout the training trials. Zebrafish in the control group did not move toward the food source in response to the auditory stimulus (A). When tested for retention in groups after 2 days, trained fish moved closer to the food source compared to controls (B). Data points are mean distance from the food source before the FM tone sweep minus mean distance from the food source during the FM tone sweep. Numbers beside data points represent replicates for groups of 5 fish in each condition. Error bars = \pm s.e.m.



Figure 3.9. Juvenile zebrafish (30 dpf) in the experimental group moved vertically from their initial positions towards the surface as a result of conditioning to the auditory stimulus.

This response increased throughout the training trials. Zebrafish in the control group did not move toward the surface in response to the auditory stimulus (A). When tested for retention in groups after 2 days, trained fish moved closer to the surface compared to controls (B). Data points are mean vertical position before the FM tone sweep minus mean vertical position during the FM tone sweep. Numbers beside data points represent replicates for groups of 5 fish in each condition. Error bars = \pm s.e.m.



Figure 3.10. Juvenile zebrafish (30 dpf) in the experimental group moved laterally from their initial positions towards the food source as a result of conditioning to the auditory stimulus.

This response increased throughout the training trials. Zebrafish in the control group did not move toward the food source in response to the auditory stimulus (A). When tested for retention in groups after 2 days, trained fish moveed closer, laterally, to the food source compared to controls (B). Data points are mean horizontal position before the FM tone sweep minus mean horizontal position during the FM tone sweep. Numbers beside data points represent replicates for groups of 5 fish in each condition. Error bars = \pm s.e.m.

3.4 CHARACTERIZATION OF PHOSPHORYLATED ERK IMMUNOREACTIVITY

Brains of juvenile zebrafish (30 dpf) which were fixed immediately following the 2-day probe trial were used to assess pERK immunoreactivity in the telencephalon. Maximum intensity projections obtained from the confocal image stacks were used to qualitatively assess differences in the staining pattern between experimental and control brains. In both groups, strong immunoreactivity was observed in the telencephalon. However minimal immunostaining was observed elsewhere in the brain, the tectum and medulla (data not shown).

In addition, a similar qualitative pattern of cell distribution was observed in both control and experimental brains. Phosphorylated ERK immunoreactive cells appeared to be predominantly located along the anterolateral borders of the telencephalon, and became more diffused towards the midline and posterior regions (Figure 3.11).

In order to quantitatively analyze if there was an effect of conditioning on the number of pERK immunoreactive cells, cell density index (number of cells per μ m²) was measured in the entire dorsal telencephalon (pallium). A Welch two sample t-test revealed significantly higher cell density index values in the experimental brains compared to controls (p=0.004; Figure 3.12), suggesting an effect of conditioning. A two-way ANOVA for immunoreactive area (%) (percentage of the total telencephalic area covered by pERK immunoreactive cells), also revealed a significant overall effect of conditioning (p=0.011) (Figure 3.13). In addition, a significant effect of dorsal pallium quadrant (p<0.001) and interaction between conditioning and quadrant were also found (p=0.013) This suggests that the difference in pERK immunoreactivity is not homogeneous throughout the dorsal pallium.

Next, in order to localize the difference in immunoreactive area (%) to specific regions, post-hoc tests were performed for each quadrant. Analysis of the anterior and posterior quadrants of the lateral dorsal pallium showed significantly higher immunoreactivity in experimental fish compared to controls (Welch two sample t-test, p=0.020 & p=0.035, respectively) (Figure 3.13). Comparisons of the medial region showed no effect of conditioning in the anterior and posterior quadrants (Welch two sample t-test, both p>0.05). This suggests that the difference in pERK immunoreactivity is predominantly restricted to the lateral regions of the dorsal pallium.



Figure 3.11. Representative pERK immunoreactivity (maximum intensity projection) in the dorsal telencephalon of a control (A) and experimental (B) juvenile zebrafish (30 dpf) when tested for retention after 2 days.

Anterior lateral (AL), posterior lateral (Pl), anterior medial (Am) and posterior medial (Pm) ROIs are indicated by labeled white dashed lines, scale bars = $50 \mu m$.



Figure 3.12. Mean pERK immunoreactive cell density index values (number of cells per μm^2) in the whole dorsal pallium.

Density index values of pERK immunoreactive cells in the dorsal pallium were significantly higher in experimental juvenile zebrafish (30 dpf) than control fish (*p=0.004), when tested for retention after 2 days. Control n=7, experimental n=9 and error bars = \pm s.e.m.



Region of the Pallium

Figure 3.13. Mean percentage of the total telencephalic area covered by pERK immunoreactivity in the whole dorsal pallium, as well as the lateral and medial quadrants of the anterior and posterior dorsal pallium.

Immunoreactivity to pERK was significantly higher in whole dorsal pallium of conditioned juvenile zebrafish (30 dpf) than controls when tested for retention after 2 days (*p=0.011). This increase in immunoreactivity was localised to the anterior and posterior quadrants of the lateral dorsal pallium (*p= 0.020 & *p=0.035, respectively). Immunoreactivity was not significantly different in the anterior and posterior quadrants

of the medial dorsal pallium (both p> 0.05). Control n=7, experimental n=9 and error bars $= \pm$ s.e.m.

CHAPTER 4 DISCUSSION

In this study, we developed an automated appetitive paradigm to condition zebrafish in their home tanks. Our results demonstrated that fish could rapidly learn to associate an auditory stimulus, consisting of continuous 100-1000-100 Hz FM sweeps, with the presentation of food. Groups of zebrafish navigated towards the food source upon presentation of the conditioned stimulus. The strength of association increased over the course of 20 acquisition trials, suggesting fish progressively improved in their ability to anticipate the presentation of food as an unconditioned stimulus. In addition, individual and groups of zebrafish were capable of retaining and retrieving the associative memory for at least 2 days post training indicating that they formed a robust long-term memory of the association. Finally, conditioned juvenile zebrafish (30 dpf) showed increased pERK immunoreactivity in the dorsolateral pallium after probe trials, suggesting that this area may be involved in memory retrieval.

4.1 CONDITIONING

A question naturally arises regarding what was learned by the fish in this study. We observed little or no response by the control fish to the FM sweeps as illustrated by their consistent, near-zero movements toward the food source, thereby suggesting that these stimuli were neutral in the absence of any training. In contrast to the naïve (at the beginning of training) and control fish, zebrafish that were trained to associate the auditory stimulus with food rose to the surface in response to the conditioned stimuli (Figures 3.3, 3.6, 3.9), thus mimicking the innate consummatory behavior of these surface-feeding fish (Suriyampola et al., 2016). We therefore propose that this robust

conditioned response to a previously neutral stimulus represents a form of classical conditioning.

In addition to classical conditioning, which resulted in fish travelling upwards to the surface, the fish also travelled laterally towards the feeder in anticipation of food (Figures 3.4, 3.7, 3.10). This response suggests that they might also learn to associate food with the specific location at which the food was dispensed. This finding is consistent with previous studies that showed zebrafish are capable of forming concurrent double associations both between salient cues and a food reward, and between the reward and its location (Braubach et al., 2009; Karnik and Gerlai, 2012). It is not clear, however, whether zebrafish formed a cognitive map of their environment (O'Keefe and Nadel, 1979) or simply formed associations between a specific landmark (such as the plastic divider near the feeder) and the location of the food source (Karnik and Gerlai, 2012). Additional work is needed to determine whether there was a spatial component to the learned response. The conditioned response to go toward one side of the tank was, however, consistently weaker than the response to swim toward the surface, although caution must also be exercised regarding the interpretation of this difference. More salient landmarks, clearly indicating the end of the tank from which the food was dispensed, might be expected to improve the lateral component of the learned response significantly (Williams et al., 2002; Gerlai, 2011).

Together, these findings suggest that the responses described in this study are the result of classical conditioning and that a more complex form of learning may also be involved. The ability of fish to anticipate both the timing of food availability and the

location of the food would provide a substantial advantage for fish competing for limited resources in their natural environment (Engeszer et al., 2007).

4.2 RATE OF ACQUISITION

A number of associative paradigms have been developed to condition adult zebrafish with between 1 to 40 pairing trials administered over the course of 1 to 5 days using aversive stimuli, such as electrical shocks (Xu et al., 2007; Blank et al., 2009; Agetsuma et al., 2012) or disturbances in the water (Morin et al., 2013). Appetitive paradigms, which minimize undesired stress-induced reactions (Gerlai, 2011), often require large numbers of pairings, ranging from 20 to 400 trials for up to 8 days (Colwill et al., 2005; Braubach et al., 2009; Sison and Gerlai, 2010; Mueller and Neuhauss, 2012; Chacon and Luchiari, 2014). In addition, one appetitive paradigm has shown that juveniles can be conditioned within 28 trials over 2 days (Williams et al., 2002). However, as learning is task and age dependent, it is unclear if juveniles can be conditioned in a shorter period of time.

The appetitive paradigm described in this paper conditioned groups of fish in less than 2 days with 10 trials delivered per day. A significant conditioned response was observed in both adults and juveniles by 5-13 pairings. Acquisition of the vertical component was not significant for the 30 dpf fish, most likely as the swim bladder is not fully functional at this age (Robertson et al., 2007; Winata et al., 2009) and the smaller sample size compared to the adult experiments. The purpose of this study was to determine whether zebrafish could be conditioned in their home tanks, without stress of handling and with the use of an auditory stimulus. The conditioned stimulus was chosen simply based on the limits of what zebrafish were known to be able to detect (Cervi et al.,

2012) but not cause large startle responses (data not shown). Also, these results were obtained using somewhat arbitrary inter-trial intervals and food amounts. Optimization of these parameters is likely to improve the rates of learning even further (Morin et al., 2013).

We suggest that the rapidity of learning demonstrated in our studies is the consequence of both monitoring natural food-finding responses normally exhibited by zebrafish, and the use of home tanks to eliminate stressors, which are inherent features of many other paradigms involving zebrafish. Other paradigms often involve transferring fish into new experimental tanks, inducing handling stress (Ramsay et al., 2009) and necessitating long acclimation periods (Sison and Gerlai, 2011). We minimized stress by conducting experiments in home tanks using the same or equivalent water temperature, composition and flow as in conventional facilities where zebrafish are reared and/or maintained. Setting up new experiments and testing fish after long retention periods involves only the moving of whole tanks with pre-existing groups of fish from the maintenance racks to the observation racks, followed by overnight acclimation.

4.3 MEMORY RETENTION

Despite the growing number of learning paradigms for zebrafish, few studies have examined memory retention beyond 2-3 days after training. For instance, there is evidence that zebrafish can maintain associative memory of food with either a visual (Al-Imari and Gerlai, 2008) or olfactory (Braubach et al., 2009) stimulus in place preference paradigms for 1 and 2 days, respectively. Another study observed retention of an aversive association between a visual stimulus and shock after 3 days (Xu and Goetz, 2012).

Evidence does exist, however, for spatial memories lasting for 10 days (Williams et al., 2002).

Our study provides further evidence for long-term memory in zebrafish. Two-way ANOVAs in adults indicated significant main effects during retention periods ranging from 2 to 32 days post training and demonstrated memories persisting for at least 2 days. A significant interaction for groups suggests that memory declined between 2 and 16 days. However, as there was no interaction for retentions in individual fish, presumably due to low statistical power, we were unable to determine the exact time course of retention. As with other aspects of this study, future optimization of procedures will likely result in more definitive retention curves. For example, initial conditioning of fish to high performance criteria, rather than simply to arbitrary numbers of training trials, will probably provide more accurate estimates of maximum duration of memory retention in these animals.

We also demonstrated a novel aspect of memory retention in zebrafish. When animals behave as members of social groups, it can be unclear, without detailed analyses (Seeley and Buhrman, 1999; Nagy et al., 2010), how individuals contribute to the behaviour of the group as a whole (here, a shoal of zebrafish). Do all or most fish in the shoal learn the conditioned associations or do only a few fish learn and the rest of the shoal follows those leaders? It was also possible that outside the context of the shoal, no individual fish would exhibit memories of the conditioning acquired as a group. Here we exploited the efficiency of quickly training groups of fish to demonstrate unambiguous memory retention by individuals. These results are consistent with the previous studies emphasizing the transmission of learned responses from a group to individuals and

effectiveness of group training (Suboski et al., 1990; Brown and Laland, 2003). It should be possible in the future to correlate such measures of individual performance during retention with changes in brain activity, to elucidate neural substrates of learning and memory (Sumbre and de Polavieja, 2014). However, correlating the performance of individual fish with brain activity was not possible in the current study as juveniles were tested only in groups. Individual testing could also provide a foundation for genetic and pharmacological screens for factors affecting long-term memory consolidation and retrieval.

4.4 Advantages of Automation

Though automated systems offer conspicuous advantages over paradigms utilizing manual pairings, few automated paradigms have yet been developed for zebrafish (Mueller and Neuhauss, 2012; Cerutti et al., 2013; Manabe et al., 2013). Automation offers a more controlled environment by minimizing possible confounds such as the presence of experimenters who could potentially act as predictors for the food reward (Mueller and Neuhauss, 2012), and by providing more precise and consistent delivery of the food reward. Our automated feeding system also overcame a potential problem of satiation (Sison and Gerlai, 2010), as food was dispensed in small amounts throughout conditioning. The feeder can dispense a wide variety of commercially available fish food of varying sizes, making it suitable for different fish of different ages, as demonstrated here with both adult and juvenile fish.

Importantly, automation also offers the opportunity to easily scale operations up to efficiently condition large number of animals. The automated apparatus described here is relatively inexpensive, easily constructed, and can be added to existing tanks without

modifications. In addition, the apparatus has the capacity to present a wide variety of tones and coloured lights as conditioned stimuli (Doyle et al., 2016). Durations and intervals can be easily programmed in Arduino sketches. Thus, the paradigms can be used not only to test cognitive abilities of fish in high-throughput screens but also to test for fine sensory discrimination in studies of psychophysics.

In addition to describing an easily constructed and inexpensive apparatus to produce conditioning, we also demonstrated that behavioural responses in zebrafish can be reliably measured by analysing movement in two dimensions using inexpensive cameras and subsequent analyses through ImageJ and Matlab. These are readily available and cost effective alternatives to commercially available tracking software packages used in many other conditioning paradigms (Al-Imari and Gerlai, 2008; Sison and Gerlai, 2010, 2011; Karnik and Gerlai, 2012; Chacon and Luchiari, 2014).

4.5 NEURAL CORRELATES OF LEARNING

One approach to understanding the neural correlates of learning and memory is to create a functional map of the brain using a diverse range of learning paradigms. This map would allow the different stages of memory formation to be linked to corresponding brain regions. Given the established use of pERK as an indicator of neural activity in zebrafish (Randlett et al., 2015), we used pERK to identify brain regions that are active during memory retrieval in free-swimming fish. To our knowledge, this is the first reported use of ERK phosphorylation in zebrafish to characterize the regions associated with memory.

Significantly stronger pERK immunoreactivity was observed in the dorsal pallium of conditioned fish compared to control, suggesting a possible link between retrieval of

the auditory conditioned response and increased brain activity. Moreover, regional analysis revealed significantly higher immunoreactivity in lateral regions of the pallium in conditioned fish. These results suggest that dorsolateral pallium is activated and involved in retrieval of the conditioned association.

These findings are in line with other studies that have shown similarities between subdivisions of the pallium in zebrafish and mammalian hippocampus and isocortex. These similarities have been previously proposed on the basis of developmental morphogenesis (Mueller et al., 2011). In addition, ablation of goldfish medial and lateral pallium has been shown to impair acquisition and retention of an avoidance task, respectively (Portavella et al., 2004). Localised activity, covering a small focal area, close to the center of dorsal telencephalon has been demonstrated during retrieval of an active avoidance association in adult zebrafish using calcium imaging. Furthermore, ablation of the activated area impaired retrieval of the long-term memory, suggesting its functional homology to mammalian isocortex (Aoki et al., 2013).Collectively the presented evidence suggests that subdivisions of dorsal pallium are involved in retrieval of aversive and appetitive associative memories. However, as the boundaries between these subdivisions are not clear, it is difficult to draw direct links between anatomical divisions and their functions.

The increased immunoreactivity observed in the dorsolateral pallium of appetitively conditioned fish may be a direct result of enhanced activity due to the retrieval of the learned association. However, it is possible that ERK phosphorylation could have been triggered by sensory stimulation such as conditioned stimulus alone or behaviours such as motor responses. Although pERK can serve as a useful activity marker, phosphorylation

of ERK is dependent on the temporal pattern of neural firing and may not inclusively represent all neural activity (Randlett et al., 2015). To eliminate potential confounds, it would be necessary to also examine phosphorylation of ERK in response to the auditory stimulus, feeding and random swimming. In addition, to better resolve the activated areas of interest, background immunoreactivity could be reduced through double labeling with an antibody against total ERK. This would allow the background signal to be subtracted, giving a clearer indication of activated areas (Randlett et al., 2015).

The observed involvement of dorsolateral pallium in memory retention needs to be confirmed with more evidence, as the accurate identification of activated brain nuclei was limited by lack of physical and histological landmarks. In order to determine if the selected ROIs align correctly with the pallium sub-divisions (lateral and medial pallium), additional neuronal markers would be needed. Also, although brain activity was studied only during retention, it is possible that the activated areas are involved in acquisition as well as consolidation and retention. In spite of these limitations, this study provides a useful preliminary framework for future neurobehavioural studies in zebrafish.

4.6 CONCLUSIONS

With the increasing use of zebrafish as models for the study of learning and memory, it becomes important to establish paradigms to test a fuller range of this animal's behavioural repertoire. Demand for high-throughput screening further requires efficient training procedures that can produce robust learning and long-lasting memories. The appetitive paradigm described here meets these demands by quickly and reliably conditioning zebrafish to associate a neutral auditory stimulus with food in under 20 trials over less than 2 days. The paradigm, with our inexpensive automated apparatus, can

easily be run using groups of either adult or juvenile fish in their home tanks, thus eliminating the need for specialised tanks and extended periods of acclimation. After training, fish can be removed from the observation arenas and moved back to maintenance racks while awaiting probe trials for memory retention. In this way, we have shown that fish trained in groups can learn individually, demonstrating long-term memories lasting at least 2 days. In addition, retention of the learned response was associated with increased neural activity in the entire dorsal telencephalon as well as regions roughly overlapping the lateral pallium, previously reported as being involved in memory retention in zebrafish.

The results of this study have significant implications for increasing our understanding of the neural basis of learning and memory. Neural activity can be mapped at various stages during learning and memory retention to identify nuclei involved in these processes. Furthermore, this paradigm can be used for rapid, high-throughput screening of compounds modifying these processes.

REFERENCES

- Abel T, Lattal KM (2001) Molecular mechanisms of memory acquisition, consolidation and retrieval. Curr Opin Neurobiol 11:180–187.
- Adafruit (2015) WaveHC library. Available at: https://learn.adafruit.com/adafruit-waveshield-audio-shield-for-arduino/wavehc-library [Accessed June 27, 2016].
- Adafruit (2016) Motorshield library. Available at: https://learn.adafruit.com/adafruitmotor-shield-v2-for-arduino/install-software [Accessed June 27, 2016].
- Agetsuma M, Aoki T, Aoki R, Okamoto H (2012) Cued fear conditioning in zebrafish (Danio rerio). In: Zebrafish protocols for neurobehavioral research (Kalueff A V., Stewart AM, eds), pp 257–264. New York: Elsevier.
- Agranoff BW, Cotman CW, Uhler MD (1999) Invertebrate learning and memory. In:
 Basic neurochemistry: molecular, cellular and medical aspects, 6th ed. (Siegel GJ,
 Agranoff BW, Albers RW, Fisher SK, Uhler MD, eds). Philadelphia, PA:
 Lippincott-Raven. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK28212/.
- Aizenberg M, Schuman EM (2011) Cerebellar-dependent learning in larval zebrafish. J Neurosci 31:8708–8712.
- Al-Imari L, Gerlai R (2008) Sight of conspecifics as reward in associative learning in zebrafish (Danio rerio). Behav Brain Res 189:216–219.
- Aoki T, Kinoshita M, Aoki R, Agetsuma M, Aizawa H, Yamazaki M, Takahoko M, Amo R, Arata A, Higashijima SI, Tsuboi T, Okamoto H (2013) Imaging of neural ensemble for the retrieval of a learned behavioral program. Neuron 78:881–894.
 - https://www.arduino.cc/en/Main/OldSoftwareReleases#previous [Accessed June 27,

Arduino (2014) Classic Arduino IDE 1.06. Available at:

2016].

- Atkins CM, Selcher JC, Petraitis JJ, Trzaskos JM, Sweatt JD (1998) The MAPK cascade is required for mammalian associative learning. Nat Neurosci 1:602–609.
- Avdesh A, Martin-Iverson MT, Mondal A, Chen M, Askraba S, Morgan N, Lardelli M, Groth DM, Verdile G, Martins RN (2012) Evaluation of color preference in zebrafish for learning and memory. J Alzheimer's Dis 28:459–469.
- Bally-Cuif L, Vernier P (2010) Organization and physiology of the zebrafish nervous system. In: Fish physiology, 29th ed. (Perry SF, Ekker M, Farrell AP, Brauner CJ, eds), pp 25–80. New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Basolo AL (2000) Problems in studying receiver biases and their effects on signal evolution. In: Animal signals: signalling and signal design in animal communication (Espmark Y, Amundsen T, Rosenqvist G, eds), pp 177–193. Trondheim, Norway: Tapir Academic Press.
- Blank M, Guerim LD, Cordeiro RF, Vianna MRM (2009) A one-trial inhibitory avoidance task to zebrafish: rapid acquisition of an NMDA-dependent long-term memory. Neurobiol Learn Mem 92:529–534.
- Blum S, Moore AN, Adams F, Dash PK (1999) A mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade in the CA1/CA2 subfield of the dorsal hippocampus is essential for longterm spatial memory. J Neurosci 19:3535–3544.
- Braubach OR, Wood HD, Gadbois S, Fine A, Croll RP (2009) Olfactory conditioning in the zebrafish (Danio rerio). Behav Brain Res 198:190–198.
- Broadbent NJ, Squire LR, Clark RE (2004) Spatial memory, recognition memory, and the hippocampus. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101:14515–14520.

Broglio C, Rodríguez F, Gómez A, Arias JL, Salas C (2010) Selective involvement of the goldfish lateral pallium in spatial memory. Behav Brain Res 210:191–201.

Brown C, Laland KN (2003) Social learning in fishes: a review. Fish Fish 4:280–288.

- Burnham KP, Anderson DR eds. (2004) Model selection and multimodel inference: a practical information-theoretic approach. New York, NY: Springer New York.
- Cancedda L, Putignano E, Impey S, Maffei L, Ratto GM, Pizzorusso T (2003) Patterned vision causes CRE-mediated gene expression in the visual cortex through PKA and ERK. J Neurosci 23:7012–7020.
- Center for biologic imaging (2016) Gelvatol: mounting media. Univ Pittsburgh Available at: http://www.cbi.pitt.edu/protocols/gelvatol.htm [Accessed July 17, 2016].
- Cerutti DT, Jozefowiez J, Staddon JER (2013) Rapid, accurate time estimation in zebrafish (Danio rerio). Behav Processes 99:21–25.
- Cervi AL, Poling KR, Higgs DM (2012) Behavioral measure of frequency detection and discrimination in the zebrafish, Danio rerio. Zebrafish 9:1–7.
- Chacon DM, Luchiari AC (2014) A dose for the wiser is enough: the alcohol benefits for associative learning in zebrafish. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry 53:109–115.
- Chatterjee D, Tran S, Shams S, Gerlai R (2015) A simple method for immunohistochemical staining of zebrafish brain sections for c-fos protein expression. Zebrafish 12:414–420.
- Colwill RM, Raymond MP, Ferreira L, Escudero H (2005) Visual discrimination learning in zebrafish (Danio rerio). Behav Processes 70:19–31.

Dai Y, Iwata K, Fukuoka T, Kondo E, Tokunaga A, Yamanaka H, Tachibana T, Liu Y,
Noguchi K (2002) Phosphorylation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase in primary afferent neurons by noxious stimuli and its involvement in peripheral sensitization. J Neurosci 22:7737–7745.

- Doube M, Kłosowski MM, Arganda-Carreras I, Cordelières FP, Dougherty RP, Jackson JS, Schmid B, Hutchinson JR, Shefelbine SJ (2010) BoneJ: free and extensible bone image analysis in ImageJ. Bone 47:1076–1079.
- Doyle JD, Merovitch N, Wyeth RC, Stoyek MR, Schmidt M, Wilfart F, Croll RP, Fine A (2016) A simple automated system for appetitive conditioning of zebrafish in their home tanks. Manuscr Submitt Publ.
- Engeszer RE, Da Barbiano LA, Ryan MJ, Parichy DM (2007a) Timing and plasticity of shoaling behaviour in the zebrafish, Danio rerio. Anim Behav 74:1269–1275.
- Engeszer RE, Patterson LB, Rao AA, Parichy DM (2007b) Zebrafish in the wild: a review of natural history and new notes from the field. Zebrafish 4:21–40.
- Fadool JM, Dowling JE (2008) Zebrafish: A model system for the study of eye genetics. Prog Retin Eye Res 27:89–110.
- Forero MG, Hidalgo A (2011) Image processing methods for automatic cell counting in vivo or in situ using 3D confocal microscopy. In: Advanced biomedical engineering, pp 183–204. Rijeka, Croatia: InTech.

Fosque BF, Sun Y, Dana H, Yang C-T, Ohyama T, Tadross MR, Patel R, Zlatic M, Kim DS, Ahrens MB, Jayaraman V, Looger LL, Schreiter ER (2015) Neural circuits.
Labeling of active neural circuits in vivo with designed calcium integrators. Science 347:755–760.

Fox J (2003) Effect displays in R for generalised linear models. J Stat Softw 8:1–27.

- Fox J, Weisberg S (2011) An R companion to applied regression, second edition. Sage Available at: http://socserv.socsci.mcmaster.ca/jfox/Books/Companion/ [Accessed June 27, 2016].
- Frankland PW, Bontempi B (2005) The organization of recent and remote memories. Nat Rev Neurosci 6:119–130.
- Frankland PW, Bontempi B, Talton LE, Kaczmarek L, Silva AJ (2004) The involvement of the anterior cingulate cortex in remote contextual fear memory. Science 304:881– 883.
- Friedrich RW, Genoud C, Wanner AA (2013) Analyzing the structure and function of neuronal circuits in zebrafish. Front Neural Circuits 7:71.
- Ganz J, Kroehne V, Freudenreich D, Machate A, Geffarth M, Braasch I, Kaslin J, Brand M (2014) Subdivisions of the adult zebrafish pallium based on molecular marker analysis. F1000Research 3:308.
- Gao Y-J, Ji R-R (2009) c-Fos or pERK, which is a better marker for neuronal activation and central sensitization after noxious stimulation and tissue injury? Open Pain J 2:11–17.
- Gerlai R (2010) High-throughput behavioral screens: the first step towards finding genes involved in vertebrate brain function using zebrafish. Molecules 15:2609–2622.
- Gerlai R (2011) Associative learning in zebrafish (Danio rerio). Methods Cell Biol 101:249–270.
- Gleason P, Weber P, Weber S (1977) Effect of group size on avoidance learning in zebra fish, Brachydanio rerio (Pisces: Cyprinidae). Anim Learn Behav 5:213–216.

Hughes V (2013) Mapping brain networks: fish-bowl neuroscience. Nature 493:466–468.

- Hussain A, Saraiva LR, Ferrero DM, Ahuja G, Krishna VS, Liberles SD, Korsching SI (2013) High-affinity olfactory receptor for the death-associated odor cadaverine.
 Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:19579–19584.
- Jarrard LE (1993) On the role of the hippocampus in learning and memory in the rat. Behav Neural Biol 60:9–26.
- Ji R-R, Baba H, Brenner GJ, Woolf CJ (1999) Nociceptive-specific activation of ERK in spinal neurons contributes to pain hypersensitivity. Nat Neurosci 2:1114–1119.
- Kalueff A V., Echevarria DJ, Stewart AM (2014) Gaining translational momentum: more zebrafish models for neuroscience research. Prog Neuro-Psychopharmacology Biol Psychiatry 55:1–6.
- Karnik I, Gerlai R (2012) Can zebrafish learn spatial tasks? An empirical analysis of place and single CS-US associative learning. Behav Brain Res 233:415–421.
- Key B (2015) Fish do not feel pain and its implications for understanding phenomenal consciousness. Biol Philos 30:149–165.
- Kovács KJ (1998) Invited review c-Fos as a transcription factor: a stressful (re)view from a functional map. Neurochem Int 33:287–297.
- LaLumiere RT, W. Kalivas P (2007) Reward and drugs of abuse. In: Neurobiology of learning and memory, 2nd ed. (Kesner RP, Martinez JL, eds), pp 459–482.Burlington, MA: Academic Press.
- Lee A, Mathuru AS, Teh C, Kibat C, Korzh V, Penney TB, Jesuthasan S (2010) The habenula prevents helpless behavior in larval zebrafish. Curr Biol 20:2211–2216.
- Lesburguères E et al. (2011) Early tagging of cortical networks is required for the formation of enduring associative memory. Science 331:924–928.

- Lieschke GJ, Currie PD (2007) Animal models of human disease: zebrafish swim into view. Nat Rev Genet 8:353–367.
- Lonstein JS, Fleming AS, Lonstein JS, Fleming AS (2002) Parental behaviors in rats and mice. In: Current protocols in neuroscience, pp 8.15.1-8.15.26. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Lüdecke D (2016) sjPlot: data visualization for statistics in social science. Available at: http://cran.r-project.org/package=sjPlot [Accessed June 27, 2016].
- Manabe K, Dooling RJ, Takaku S (2013) Differential reinforcement of an approach response in zebrafish (Danio rerio). Behav Processes 98:106–111.

Margolis M (2014) TimeAlarms library. Available at:

https://www.pjrc.com/teensy/td libs TimeAlarms.html [Accessed June 27, 2016].

Margolis M (2016) Time library. Available at:

https://www.pjrc.com/teensy/td libs Time.html [Accessed June 27, 2016].

- Maviel T, Durkin TP, Menzaghi F, Bontempi B (2004) Sites of neocortical reorganization critical for remote spatial memory. Science 305:96–99.
- Milner B, Squire LR, Kandel ER (1998) Cognitive neuroscience review and the study of memory. Neuron 20:445–468.
- Miscevic F, Rotstein O, Wen X-Y (2012) Advances in zebrafish high content and high throughput technologies. Comb Chem High Throughput Screen 15:515–521.
- Morin C, de Souza Silva M a., Müller CP, Hardigan P, Spieler RE (2013) Active avoidance learning in zebrafish (Danio rerio)—the role of sensory modality and inter-stimulus interval. Behav Brain Res 248:141–143.

Morris R (1984) Developments of a water-maze procedure for studying spatial learning

in the rat. J Neurosci Methods 11:47-60.

- Mueller KP, Neuhauss SCF (2012) Automated visual choice discrimination learning in zebrafish (Danio rerio). J Integr Neurosci 11:73–85.
- Mueller T, Dong Z, Berberoglu MA, Guo S (2011) The dorsal pallium in zebrafish, Danio rerio (Cyprinidae, Teleostei). Brain Res 1381:95–105.
- Mueller T, Wullimann MF (2009) An evolutionary interpretation of teleostean forebrain anatomy. Brain Behav Evol 74:30–42.
- Nagy M, Akos Z, Biro D, Vicsek T, Ákos Z, Biro D, Vicsek T (2010) Hierarchical group dynamics in pigeon flocks. Nature 464:890–893.
- Northcutt RG (2011) Do teleost fishes possess a homolog of mammalian isocortex? Brain Behav Evol 78:136–138.
- O'Keefe J, Nadel L (1979) Précis of O'Keefe & Nadel's the hippocampus as a cognitive map. Behav Brain Sci 2:487–494.
- Okuyama T, Suehiro Y, Imada H, Shimada A, Naruse K, Takeda H, Kubo T, Takeuchi H (2011) Induction of c-fos transcription in the medaka brain (Oryzias latipes) in response to mating stimuli. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 404:453–457.
- Olton DS, Collison C, Werz MA (1977) Spatial memory and radial arm maze performance of rats. Learn Motiv 8:289–314.
- Patton EE, Zon LI (2001) The art and design of genetic screens: zebrafish. Nat Rev Genet 2:956–966.
- Peng H, Bria A, Zhou Z, Iannello G, Long F (2014a) Extensible visualization and analysis for multidimensional images using Vaa3D. Nat Protoc 9:193–208.
- Peng H, Ruan Z, Long F, Simpson JH, Myers EW (2010) V3D enables real-time 3D

visualization and quantitative analysis of large-scale biological image data sets. Nat Biotechnol 28:348–353.

- Peng H, Tang J, Xiao H, Bria A, Zhou J, Butler V, Zhou Z, Gonzalez-Bellido PT, Oh
 SW, Chen J, Mitra A, Tsien RW, Zeng H, Ascoli GA, Iannello G, Hawrylycz M,
 Myers E, Long F (2014b) Virtual finger boosts three-dimensional imaging and
 microsurgery as well as terabyte volume image visualization and analysis. Nat
 Commun 5.
- Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, Sarkar D, R Core Team (2016) nlme: linear and nonlinear mixed effects models. Available at: http://cran.r-project.org/package=nlme [Accessed June 27, 2016].
- Portavella M, Torres B, Salas C (2004) Avoidance response in goldfish: emotional and temporal involvement of medial and lateral telencephalic pallium. J Neurosci 24:2335–2342.
- Pradel G, Schachner M, Schmidt R (1999) Inhibition of memory consolidation by antibodies against cell adhesion molecules after active avoidance conditioning in zebrafish. J Neurobiol 39:197–206.
- R Core Team (2016) R: a language and environment for statistical computing. Available at: https://www.r-project.org/ [Accessed June 27, 2016].
- Ramsay JM, Feist GW, Varga ZM, Westerfield M, Kent ML, Schreck CB (2009) Wholebody cortisol response of zebrafish to acute net handling stress. Aquaculture 297:157–162.
- Randlett O, Wee CL, Naumann E a, Nnaemeka O, Schoppik D, Fitzgerald JE, Portugues R, Lacoste AMB, Riegler C, Engert F, Schier AF (2015) Whole-brain activity

mapping onto a zebrafish brain atlas. Nat Methods 12:1–12.

- Renno WM, Al-Khaledi G, Mousa A, Karam SM, Abul H, Asfar S (2014) (–)-Epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG) modulates neurological function when intravenously infused in acute and, chronically injured spinal cord of adult rats. Neuropharmacology 77:100–119.
- Roberts AC, Bill BR, Glanzman DL (2013) Learning and memory in zebrafish larvae. Front Neural Circuits 7:126.
- Robertson GN, Mcgee CAS, Dumbarton TC, Croll RP, Smith FM (2007) Development of the swimbladder and its innervation in the zebrafish, Danio rerio. J Morphol 268:967–985.
- Rodríguez F, López JC, Vargas JP, Broglio C, Gómez Y, Salas C (2002) Spatial memory and hippocampal pallium through vertebrate evolution: insights from reptiles and teleost fish. Brain Res Bull 57:499–503.
- Salas C, Broglio C, Durán E, Gómez A, Ocaña FM, Jiménez-moya F, Rodríguez F (2006) Neuropsychology of learning and memory in teleost fish. Zebrafish 3:157–171.
- Schindelin J, Arganda-Carreras I, Frise E, Kaynig V, Longair M, Pietzsch T, Preibisch S, Rueden C, Saalfeld S, Schmid B, Tinevez J-Y, White DJ, Hartenstein V, Eliceiri K, Tomancak P, Cardona A (2012) Fiji: an open-source platform for biological-image analysis. Nat Methods 9:676–682.
- Schindelin J, Rueden CT, Hiner MC, Eliceiri KW (2015) The ImageJ ecosystem: an open platform for biomedical image analysis. Mol Reprod Dev 82:518–529.
- Seeley TD, Buhrman SC (1999) Group decision making in swarms of honey bees. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 45:19–31.

- Selcher JC, Atkins CM, Trzaskos JM, Paylor R, Sweatt JD (1999) A necessity for MAP kinase activation in mammalian spatial learning. Learn Mem 6:478–490.
- Sievert C, Parmer C, Hocking T, Chamberlain S, Ram K, Corvellec M, Despouy P (2016) Create interactive web graphics via "plotly.js." Available at: https://cran.rproject.org/package=plotly [Accessed June 27, 2016].
- Sison M, Gerlai R (2010) Associative learning in zebrafish (Danio rerio) in the plus maze. Behav Brain Res 207:99–104.
- Sison M, Gerlai R (2011) Associative learning performance is impaired in zebrafish (Danio rerio) by the NMDA-R antagonist MK-801. Neurobiol Learn Mem 96:230–237.
- Spence R, Gerlach G, Lawrence C, Smith C (2008) The behaviour and ecology of the zebrafish, Danio rerio. Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc 83:13–34.
- Spence R, Smith C (2008) Innate and learned colour preference in the zebrafish, Danio rerio. Ethology 114:582–588.
- Steele CW, Scarfe AD, Owens DW (1991) Effects of group size on the responsiveness of zebrafish, Brachydanio rerio (Hamilton Buchanan), to alanine, a chemical attractant. J Fish Biol 38:553–564.
- Suboski MD, Bain S, Carty AE, McQuoid LM, Et Al, et al MI, Seifert M (1990) Alarm reaction in acquisition and social transmission of simulated-predator recognition by zebra danio fish (Brachydanio rerio). J Comp Psychol 104:101–112.
- Sumbre GG, de Polavieja GG (2014) The world according to zebrafish: how neural circuits generate behavior. Front Neural Circuits 8:6–9.

Suriyampola PS, Shelton DS, Shukla R, Roy T, Bhat A, Martins EP (2016) Zebrafish

social behavior in the wild. Zebrafish 13:1–8.

- Susaki EA, Tainaka K, Perrin D, Kishino F, Tawara T, Watanabe TM, Yokoyama C, Onoe H, Eguchi M, Yamaguchi S, Abe T, Kiyonari H, Shimizu Y, Miyawaki A, Yokota H, Ueda HR (2014) Whole-brain imaging with single-cell resolution using chemical cocktails and computational analysis. Cell 157:726–739.
- Teixeira CM, Pomedli SR, Maei HR, Kee N, Frankland PW (2006) Involvement of the anterior cingulate cortex in the expression of remote spatial memory. J Neurosci 26:7555–7564.
- Thomas GM, Huganir RL (2004) MAPK cascade signalling and synaptic plasticity. Nat Rev Neurosci 5:173–183.
- Tran S, Nowicki M, Fulcher N, Chatterjee D, Gerlai R (2016) Interaction between handling induced stress and anxiolytic effects of ethanol in zebrafish: a behavioral and neurochemical analysis. Behav Brain Res 298:278–285.
- Tse D et al. (2011) Schema-dependent gene activation and memory encoding in neocortex. Science 333:891–895.
- Valente A, Huang K-H, Portugues R, Engert F (2012) Ontogeny of classical and operant learning behaviors in zebrafish. Learn Mem 19:170–177.
- Vargas R, Þorsteinsson H, Karlsson KÆ (2012) Spontaneous neural activity of the anterodorsal lobe and entopeduncular nucleus in adult zebrafish: a putative homologue of hippocampal sharp waves. Behav Brain Res 229:10–20.
- Wickham H (2009) ggplot2: elegant graphics for data analysis. New York, NY: Springer New York.

Williams FE, White D, Messer WS (2002) A simple spatial alternation task for assessing

memory function in zebrafish. Behav Processes 58:125–132.

- Winata CL, Korzh S, Kondrychyn I, Zheng W, Korzh V, Gong Z (2009) Development of zebrafish swimbladder: the requirement of hedgehog signaling in specification and organization of the three tissue layers. Dev Biol 331:222–236.
- Wright AA, Watkins MJ (1987) Animal learning and memory and their relation to human learning and memory. Learn Motiv 18:131–146.
- Wullimann MF, Rupp B, Reichert H (1996) Neuroanatomy of the zebrafish brain. Basel, Switzerland: Birkhäuser Basel.
- Wyeth RC, Braubach OR, Fine A, Croll RP (2011) Videograms: a method for repeatable unbiased quantitative behavioral analysis without scoring or tracking. In: Zebrafish Neurobehavioral Protocols (Kalueff AV, Cachat JM, eds), pp 15–33. New York: Elsevier.
- Xu X, Goetz S (2012) Assessing learning and memory through the active avoidance paradigm. In: Zebrafish Protocols for Neurobehavioral Research (Kalueff A V., Stewart AM, eds), pp 265–272. New York, NY: Elsevier.
- Xu X, Scott-Scheiern T, Kempker L, Simons K (2007) Active avoidance conditioning in zebrafish (Danio rerio). Neurobiol Learn Mem 87:72–77.
- Yabuki Y, Koide T, Miyasaka N, Wakisaka N, Masuda M, Ohkura M, Nakai J, Tsuge K, Tsuchiya S, Sugimoto Y, Yoshihara Y (2016) Olfactory receptor for prostaglandin F2α mediates male fish courtship behavior. Nat Neurosci 19:897–904.
- Yasuda M, Mayford MR (2006) CaMKII activation in the entorhinal cortex disrupts previously encoded spatial memory. Neuron 50:309–318.

APPENDIX A: SUPPLEMENTAL MOVIES

Supplemental Movie 1. Representative video of acquisition trial 20 for auditory conditioning in a control tank. Fish exhibit normal swimming behaviour in the 20 seconds before the presentation of conditioned stimulus. During the 20 second presentation of the conditioned stimulus, indicated by the red light, fish did not exhibit any changes in their swimming behaviour.

Supplemental Movie 2. Representative video of acquisition trial 20 for auditory conditioning in an experimental tank. Fish exhibit normal swimming behaviour in the 20 seconds before the presentation of conditioned stimulus. During the 20 second presentation of the conditioned stimulus, indicated by the red light, fish moved towards the food source (upper-left corner of the tank) in anticipation of the food reward.

APPENDIX B: ARDUINO SKETCHES FOR CONDITIONING

A.1.1: AUDITORY TRAINING DAY ONE

#include <Time.h>
#include <TimeAlarms.h>
#include <DS1307RTC.h>
#include "WaveUtil.h"
#include "WaveHC.h"
#include <Wire.h>
#include <Adafruit_MotorShield.h>
#include "utility/Adafruit_PWMServoDriver.h"

int Led = 7;

Adafruit_MotorShield AFMS = Adafruit_MotorShield(); Adafruit_StepperMotor *Motor = AFMS.getStepper(200, 1);

SdReader card; // This object holds the information for the card FatVolume vol; // This holds the information for the partition on the card FatReader root; // This holds the information for the filesystem on the card FatReader f; // This holds the information for the file we're playing WaveHC wave; // This is the only wave (audio) object, since we will only play one at a time

void setup() {

Serial.begin(9600); // set up Serial library at 9600 bps for debugging setSyncProvider(RTC.get); // the function to get the time from the RTC

Alarm.alarmRepeat(9,45,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 9:45AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(9,45,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 9:45:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,19,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 10:19AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,19,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 10:19:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,28,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 11:28AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,28,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 11:28:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,20,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 12:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,20,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 12:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,48,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 13:48PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,48,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 13:48:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,35,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 14:35PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,35,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 14:35:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(16,23,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 16:23OM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(16,23,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 16:23:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(17,59,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 17:59PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(17,59,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 17:59:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,10,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 19:10PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,10,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 19:10:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(20,22,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 20:22PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(20,22,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 20:22:20PM Every Day

AFMS.begin(); // Start the bottom shield Motor->setSpeed(500); // Speed in RPM

// Set the output pins for the DAC control. This pins are defined in the library pinMode(2, OUTPUT); pinMode(3, OUTPUT); pinMode(4, OUTPUT); pinMode(5, OUTPUT); pinMode(Led, OUTPUT);

// if (!card.init(true)) { //play with 4 MHz spi if 8MHz isn't working for you
if (!card.init()) { //play with 8 MHz spi (default faster!)
putstring_nl("Card init. failed!"); // Something went wrong, lets print out why
while(1); // then 'halt' - do nothing!

// enable optimize read - some cards may timeout. Disable if you're having problems
card.partialBlockRead(true);

```
// Lets tell the user about what we found
putstring("Using partition ");
Serial.print(part, DEC);
putstring(", type is FAT");
Serial.println(vol.fatType(),DEC); // FAT16 or FAT32?
```

```
// Try to open the root directory
if (!root.openRoot(vol)) {
    putstring_nl("Can't open root dir!"); // Something went wrong,
    while(1); // then 'halt' - do nothing!
  }
}
```

```
void loop(){
```

}

Alarm.delay(1000); // wait one second between clock display

}

```
void SoundOn() {
    digitalWrite(Led, HIGH); // turn the LED on (HIGH is the voltage level)
    playcomplete("Tone.WAV");
}
```

```
void Feeder() {
    digitalWrite(Led, LOW); // turn the LED off by making the voltage LOW
    Motor->step(100, BACKWARD, DOUBLE); //Steps, Direction, Step Type (SINGLE,
    DOUBLE, INTERLEAVE, MICROSTEP)
    Motor->release();
}
```

```
}
```

```
void playcomplete(char *name) {
    // call our helper to find and play this name
    playfile(name);
    while (wave.isplaying) {
        // do nothing while its playing
    }
    // now its done playing
}
```

```
void playfile(char *name) {
    // see if the wave object is currently doing something
    if (wave.isplaying) {// already playing something, so stop it!
      wave.stop(); // stop it
    }
    // look in the root directory and open the file
    if (!f.open(root, name)) {
```

```
putstring("Couldn't open file "); Serial.print(name); return;
```

```
}
// OK read the file and turn it into a wave object
if (!wave.create(f)) {
    putstring_nl("Not a valid WAV"); return;
}
```

```
// ok time to play! start playback
wave.play();
```

}

A.1.2: AUDITORY TRAINING DAY TWO

```
#include <Time.h>
#include <TimeAlarms.h>
#include <DS1307RTC.h>
#include "WaveUtil.h"
#include "WaveHC.h"
#include <Wire.h>
#include <Adafruit_MotorShield.h>
#include "utility/Adafruit_PWMServoDriver.h"
```

int Led = 7;

```
Adafruit_MotorShield AFMS = Adafruit_MotorShield();
Adafruit_StepperMotor *Motor = AFMS.getStepper(200, 1);
```

```
SdReader card; // This object holds the information for the card
FatVolume vol; // This holds the information for the partition on the card
FatReader root; // This holds the information for the filesystem on the card
FatReader f; // This holds the information for the file we're playing
WaveHC wave; // This is the only wave (audio) object, since we will only play one at
a time
```

```
void setup() {
```

```
Serial.begin(9600); // set up Serial library at 9600 bps for debugging setSyncProvider(RTC.get); // the function to get the time from the RTC
```

Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,06,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 10:06AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,06,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 10:06:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,58,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 10:58AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,58,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 10:58:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,46,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 11:46AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,46,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 11:46:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,34,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 12:34PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,34,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 12:34PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,54,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 13:54PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,54,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 13:54:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,38,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 14:38PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,38,0, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 14:38:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(15,52,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 15:52PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(15,52,0, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 15:52PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(15,52,0, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 15:52:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(17,42,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 17:42PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(17,42,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 17:42:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,20,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 19:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,20,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 19:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,20,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 19:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(20,06,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 20:06PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(20,06,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 20:06PM Every Day

AFMS.begin(); // Start the bottom shield Motor->setSpeed(500); // Speed in RPM

// Set the output pins for the DAC control. This pins are defined in the library
pinMode(2, OUTPUT);
pinMode(3, OUTPUT);
pinMode(4, OUTPUT);
pinMode(5, OUTPUT);
pinMode(Led, OUTPUT);

// if (!card.init(true)) { //play with 4 MHz spi if 8MHz isn't working for you
if (!card.init()) { //play with 8 MHz spi (default faster!)
putstring_nl("Card init. failed!"); // Something went wrong, lets print out why
while(1); // then 'halt' - do nothing!
}

// enable optimize read - some cards may timeout. Disable if you're having problems
card.partialBlockRead(true);

```
// Now we will look for a FAT partition!
uint8_t part;
for (part = 0; part < 5; part++) { // we have up to 5 slots to look in
if (vol.init(card, part))
break; // we found one, lets bail
}
if (part == 5) { // if we ended up not finding one :(
putstring_nl("No valid FAT partition!");
while(1); // then 'halt' - do nothing!
}
```

```
// Lets tell the user about what we found
putstring("Using partition ");
Serial.print(part, DEC);
putstring(", type is FAT");
Serial.println(vol.fatType(),DEC); // FAT16 or FAT32?
```

```
// Try to open the root directory
if (!root.openRoot(vol)) {
    putstring_nl("Can't open root dir!"); // Something went wrong,
    while(1); // then 'halt' - do nothing!
    }
}
void loop(){
    Alarm.delay(1000); // wait one second between clock display
}
```

```
void SoundOn() {
    digitalWrite(Led, HIGH); // turn the LED on (HIGH is the voltage level)
    playcomplete("Tone.WAV");
}
```

```
void Feeder() {
```

```
digitalWrite(Led, LOW); // turn the LED off by making the voltage LOW
Motor->step(100, BACKWARD, DOUBLE); //Steps, Direction, Step Type (SINGLE,
DOUBLE, INTERLEAVE, MICROSTEP)
```

Motor->release();

}

```
void playcomplete(char *name) {
```

// call our helper to find and play this name

```
playfile(name);
```

```
while (wave.isplaying) {
```

```
// do nothing while its playing
```

```
}
```

```
// now its done playing
```

```
}
```

```
void playfile(char *name) {
```

```
/\!/ see if the wave object is currently doing something
```

```
if (wave.isplaying) {// already playing something, so stop it!
```

```
wave.stop(); // stop it
```

}

 $/\!/$ look in the root directory and open the file

```
if (!f.open(root, name)) {
```

A.2.1: AUDITORY CONTROL DAY ONE

```
#include <Time.h>
#include <TimeAlarms.h>
#include <DS1307RTC.h>
#include "WaveUtil.h"
#include "WaveHC.h"
#include <Wire.h>
#include <Adafruit_MotorShield.h>
#include "utility/Adafruit_PWMServoDriver.h"
```

int Led = 7;

```
Adafruit_MotorShield AFMS = Adafruit_MotorShield();
Adafruit_StepperMotor *Motor = AFMS.getStepper(200, 1);
```

SdReader card; // This object holds the information for the card FatVolume vol; // This holds the information for the partition on the card FatReader root; // This holds the information for the filesystem on the card FatReader f; // This holds the information for the file we're playing WaveHC wave; // This is the only wave (audio) object, since we will only play one at a time

```
void setup() {
```

Serial.begin(9600); // set up Serial library at 9600 bps for debugging setSyncProvider(RTC.get); // the function to get the time from the RTC

Alarm.alarmRepeat(9,45,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 9:45AM Every Day
Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,02,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 9:45:20AM Every Day
Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,19,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 10:19AM Every Day
Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,53,30, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 10:19:20AM Every Day
Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,28,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 11:28AM Every Day

Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,54,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 11:28:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,20,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 12:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,02,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 12:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,48,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 13:48PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,11,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 13:48:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,35,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 14:35PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(15,29,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 14:35:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(16,23,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 16:23:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(16,23,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 16:23:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(17,11,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 16:23:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(17,59,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 17:59PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(18,35,30, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 17:59PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,46,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 19:10PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,46,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 19:1020PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(20,22,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 20:22PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(20,54,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 20:22PM Every Day

AFMS.begin(); // Start the bottom shield Motor->setSpeed(500); // Speed in RPM

// Set the output pins for the DAC control. This pins are defined in the library
pinMode(2, OUTPUT);
pinMode(3, OUTPUT);
pinMode(4, OUTPUT);
pinMode(5, OUTPUT);
pinMode(Led, OUTPUT);

// if (!card.init(true)) { //play with 4 MHz spi if 8MHz isn't working for you
if (!card.init()) { //play with 8 MHz spi (default faster!)
putstring_nl("Card init. failed!"); // Something went wrong, lets print out why
while(1); // then 'halt' - do nothing!
}

// enable optimize read - some cards may timeout. Disable if you're having problems
card.partialBlockRead(true);

```
// Now we will look for a FAT partition!
uint8_t part;
for (part = 0; part < 5; part++) { // we have up to 5 slots to look in
if (vol.init(card, part))
break; // we found one, lets bail
}
if (part == 5) { // if we ended up not finding one :(
putstring_nl("No valid FAT partition!");
while(1); // then 'halt' - do nothing!
}
```

```
// Lets tell the user about what we found
putstring("Using partition ");
Serial.print(part, DEC);
putstring(", type is FAT");
Serial.println(vol.fatType(),DEC); // FAT16 or FAT32?
```

```
// Try to open the root directory
if (!root.openRoot(vol)) {
    putstring_nl("Can't open root dir!"); // Something went wrong,
    while(1); // then 'halt' - do nothing!
    }
}
void loop(){
    Alarm.delay(1000); // wait one second between clock display
```

```
void SoundOn() {
    digitalWrite(Led, HIGH); // turn the LED on (HIGH is the voltage level)
    playcomplete("Tone.WAV");
}
```

```
void Feeder() {
```

```
digitalWrite(Led, LOW); // turn the LED off by making the voltage LOW
Motor->step(100, BACKWARD, DOUBLE); //Steps, Direction, Step Type (SINGLE,
DOUBLE, INTERLEAVE, MICROSTEP)
```

Motor->release();

```
}
```

```
void playcomplete(char *name) {
```

// call our helper to find and play this name

```
playfile(name);
```

```
while (wave.isplaying) {
```

```
// do nothing while its playing
```

```
}
```

```
// now its done playing
```

```
}
```

```
void playfile(char *name) {
```

```
// see if the wave object is currently doing something
```

```
if (wave.isplaying) {// already playing something, so stop it!
```

```
wave.stop(); // stop it
```

}

 $/\!/$ look in the root directory and open the file

```
if (!f.open(root, name)) {
```

A.2.2: AUDITORY CONTROL DAY TWO

```
#include <Time.h>
#include <TimeAlarms.h>
#include <DS1307RTC.h>
#include "WaveUtil.h"
#include "WaveHC.h"
#include <Wire.h>
#include <Adafruit_MotorShield.h>
#include "utility/Adafruit_PWMServoDriver.h"
```

int Led = 7;

```
Adafruit_MotorShield AFMS = Adafruit_MotorShield();
Adafruit_StepperMotor *Motor = AFMS.getStepper(200, 1);
```

```
SdReader card; // This object holds the information for the card
FatVolume vol; // This holds the information for the partition on the card
FatReader root; // This holds the information for the filesystem on the card
FatReader f; // This holds the information for the file we're playing
WaveHC wave; // This is the only wave (audio) object, since we will only play one at
a time
```

```
void setup() {
```

```
Serial.begin(9600); // set up Serial library at 9600 bps for debugging setSyncProvider(RTC.get); // the function to get the time from the RTC
```

Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,06,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 10:06AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,26,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 10:26:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(10,58,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 10:58AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,22,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 11:22:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(11,46,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 11:46AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,10,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 12:10:20AM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(12,34,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 12:34PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,14,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 13:14PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(13,54,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 13:54PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,16,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 14:16:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(14,38,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 14:38PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(15,15,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 15:15:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(15,52,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 15:52PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(16,47,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 15:52PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(16,47,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 16:47:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(17,42,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 17:42PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,20,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 18:31:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,20,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 19:43:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(19,43,20, Feeder); // Set Alarm For 19:43:20PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(20,06,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 20:06PM Every Day Alarm.alarmRepeat(20,06,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 20:36:20PM Every Day

AFMS.begin(); // Start the bottom shield Motor->setSpeed(500); // Speed in RPM

// Set the output pins for the DAC control. This pins are defined in the library pinMode(2, OUTPUT); pinMode(3, OUTPUT); pinMode(4, OUTPUT); pinMode(5, OUTPUT); pinMode(Led, OUTPUT);

// if (!card.init(true)) { //play with 4 MHz spi if 8MHz isn't working for you
if (!card.init()) { //play with 8 MHz spi (default faster!)
putstring_nl("Card init. failed!"); // Something went wrong, lets print out why
while(1); // then 'halt' - do nothing!
}

// enable optimize read - some cards may timeout. Disable if you're having problems
card.partialBlockRead(true);

```
// Now we will look for a FAT partition!
uint8_t part;
for (part = 0; part < 5; part++) { // we have up to 5 slots to look in
if (vol.init(card, part))
break; // we found one, lets bail
}
if (part == 5) { // if we ended up not finding one :(
putstring_nl("No valid FAT partition!");
while(1); // then 'halt' - do nothing!
}
```

```
// Lets tell the user about what we found
putstring("Using partition ");
Serial.print(part, DEC);
putstring(", type is FAT");
Serial.println(vol.fatType(),DEC); // FAT16 or FAT32?
```

```
// Try to open the root directory
if (!root.openRoot(vol)) {
    putstring_nl("Can't open root dir!"); // Something went wrong,
    while(1); // then 'halt' - do nothing!
    }
}
void loop(){
    Alarm.delay(1000); // wait one second between clock display
}
```

```
void SoundOn() {
    digitalWrite(Led, HIGH); // turn the LED on (HIGH is the voltage level)
    playcomplete("Tone.WAV");
}
```

```
void Feeder() {
```

```
digitalWrite(Led, LOW); // turn the LED off by making the voltage LOW
Motor->step(100, BACKWARD, DOUBLE); //Steps, Direction, Step Type (SINGLE,
DOUBLE, INTERLEAVE, MICROSTEP)
```

Motor->release();

```
}
```

```
void playcomplete(char *name) {
```

// call our helper to find and play this name

```
playfile(name);
```

```
while (wave.isplaying) {
```

```
// do nothing while its playing
```

```
}
```

```
// now its done playing
```

```
}
```

```
void playfile(char *name) {
```

```
// see if the wave object is currently doing something
```

```
if (wave.isplaying) {// already playing something, so stop it!
```

```
wave.stop(); // stop it
```

}

 $/\!/$ look in the root directory and open the file

```
if (!f.open(root, name)) {
```

A.3: AUDITORY RETENTIONS

#include <Time.h>
#include <TimeAlarms.h>
#include <DS1307RTC.h>
#include "WaveUtil.h"
#include "WaveHC.h"
#include <Wire.h>
#include <Adafruit_MotorShield.h>
#include "utility/Adafruit_PWMServoDriver.h"

int Led = 7;

```
Adafruit_MotorShield AFMS = Adafruit_MotorShield();
Adafruit_StepperMotor *Motor = AFMS.getStepper(200, 1);
```

SdReader card; // This object holds the information for the card FatVolume vol; // This holds the information for the partition on the card FatReader root; // This holds the information for the filesystem on the card FatReader f; // This holds the information for the file we're playing WaveHC wave; // This is the only wave (audio) object, since we will only play one at a time

void setup() {

```
Serial.begin(9600); // set up Serial library at 9600 bps for debugging setSyncProvider(RTC.get); // the function to get the time from the RTC
```

Alarm.alarmRepeat(15,1,0, SoundOn); // Set Alarm For 15:1AM Every Day

AFMS.begin(); // Start the bottom shield Motor->setSpeed(500); // Speed in RPM

```
// Set the output pins for the DAC control. This pins are defined in the library
pinMode(2, OUTPUT);
pinMode(3, OUTPUT);
pinMode(4, OUTPUT);
pinMode(5, OUTPUT);
pinMode(Led, OUTPUT);
```

```
// if (!card.init(true)) { //play with 4 MHz spi if 8MHz isn't working for you
if (!card.init()) { //play with 8 MHz spi (default faster!)
putstring_nl("Card init. failed!"); // Something went wrong, lets print out why
while(1); // then 'halt' - do nothing!
}
```

// enable optimize read - some cards may timeout. Disable if you're having problems
card.partialBlockRead(true);

```
// Now we will look for a FAT partition!
uint8_t part;
for (part = 0; part < 5; part++) { // we have up to 5 slots to look in
if (vol.init(card, part))
break; // we found one, lets bail
}
if (part == 5) { // if we ended up not finding one :(
putstring_nl("No valid FAT partition!");
while(1); // then 'halt' - do nothing!
}
```

```
// Lets tell the user about what we found
putstring("Using partition ");
Serial.print(part, DEC);
putstring(", type is FAT");
```

```
Serial.println(vol.fatType(),DEC); // FAT16 or FAT32?
```

```
// Try to open the root directory
 if (!root.openRoot(vol)) {
  putstring nl("Can't open root dir!"); // Something went wrong,
                             // then 'halt' - do nothing!
  while(1);
 }
}
void loop(){
   Alarm.delay(1000); // wait one second between clock display
}
void SoundOn() {
 digitalWrite(Led, HIGH); // turn the LED on (HIGH is the voltage level)
 playcomplete("Tone.WAV");
}
void playcomplete(char *name) {
// call our helper to find and play this name
 playfile(name);
 while (wave.isplaying) {
// do nothing while its playing
 }
// now its done playing
}
void playfile(char *name) {
// see if the wave object is currently doing something
 if (wave.isplaying) {// already playing something, so stop it!
  wave.stop(); // stop it
```

```
}
// look in the root directory and open the file
if (!f.open(root, name)) {
    putstring("Couldn't open file "); Serial.print(name); return;
}
// OK read the file and turn it into a wave object
if (!wave.create(f)) {
    putstring_nl("Not a valid WAV"); return;
}
// ok time to play! start playback
```

```
wave.play();
```

```
}
```

APPENDIX C: STATISTICAL ANALYSES FOR ADULT ZEBRAFISH

C.1: ADULT - HORIZONTAL MOVEMENT

C.1.1: Acquisition – Linear Mixed Effects Model

```
Adult dX
refitting model(s) with ML (instead of REML)
Data: dfs
Models:
mod.dfs3: Measure \sim Condition + TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)
mod.dfs5: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)
Df AIC BIC logLik deviance Chisq Chi Df Pr(>Chisq)
mod.dfs3 7 4369.4 4403.6 -2177.7 4355.4
mod.dfs5 8 4338.9 4378.0 -2161.4 4322.9 32.471 1 1.21e-08 ***
 ____
Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1
Linear mixed model fit by REML ['lmerMod']
Formula: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)
Data: dfs
REML criterion at convergence: 4336.2
Scaled residuals:
Min
       1Q Median
                     30 Max
-3.8488 -0.5619 0.0027 0.5546 5.0646
Random effects:
Groups Name
                  Variance Std.Dev. Corr
Tank
       (Intercept) 1.25287 1.11932
         0.00568 0.07537 -0.06
TrialN
               4.22077 2.05445
Residual
Number of obs: 980, groups: Tank, 49
Fixed effects:
Estimate Std. Error t value
             0.157766 0.288475 0.547
(Intercept)
               1.353893 0.421059 3.215
ConditionE
TrialN
             0.003524 0.021508 0.164
ConditionE:TrialN 0.208660 0.031393 6.647
Correlation of Fixed Effects:
(Intr) CndtnE TrialN
ConditionE -0.685
         -0.443 0.304
TrialN
```

CndtnE:TrlN 0.304 -0.443 -0.685

Analysis of Deviance Table (Type II Wald chisquare tests)

Response: Measure Chisq Df Pr(>Chisq) Condition 47.264 1 6.203e-12 *** TrialN 41.945 1 9.388e-11 *** Condition:TrialN 44.179 1 2.997e-11 *** Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1 C.1.2: Group Retention – Two-Way ANOVA Adult dX Df Sum Sq Mean Sq F value Pr(>F)1 108.42 108.42 13.396 0.000873 *** Condition DayN 1 0.15 0.15 0.018 0.893192 Condition:DayN 1 68.31 68.31 8.441 0.006503 ** Residuals 33 267.08 8.09 Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1 C.1.3: Individual Retention – Two-Way ANOVA Adult dX Df Sum Sq Mean Sq F value Pr(>F) 1 114.8 114.78 4.421 0.0384 * Condition 4 176.7 44.19 1.702 0.1568 DayN Condition:DayN 4 117.2 29.31 1.129 0.3483 Residuals 88 2284.9 25.97 Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

C.2: ADULT - VERTICAL MOVEMENT

C.2.1: Acquisition – Linear Mixed Effects Model

Adult dY refitting model(s) with ML (instead of REML) Data: dfs Models: mod.dfs3: Measure \sim Condition + TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) mod.dfs5: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) Df AIC BIC logLik deviance Chisq Chi Df Pr(>Chisq) mod.dfs3 7 3763.7 3797.9 -1874.8 3749.7 mod.dfs5 8 3740.1 3779.2 -1862.1 3724.1 25.528 1 4.359e-07 *** ---Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1 Linear mixed model fit by REML ['lmerMod'] Formula: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) Data: dfs REML criterion at convergence: 3738 Scaled residuals: 1Q Median Min 30 Max -3.3131 -0.5642 -0.0675 0.4891 3.8236 Random effects: Groups Name Variance Std.Dev. Corr Tank (Intercept) 2.53516 1.5922 0.01428 0.1195 -0.84 TrialN Residual 2.17834 1.4759 Number of obs: 980, groups: Tank, 49 Fixed effects: Estimate Std. Error t value (Intercept) 1.27617 0.33998 3.754 ConditionE 0.81670 0.49623 1.646 TrialN -0.05470 0.02599 -2.105 ConditionE:TrialN 0.21501 0.03793 5.669 Correlation of Fixed Effects: (Intr) CndtnE TrialN ConditionE -0.685 -0.843 0.577 TrialN CndtnE:TrlN 0.577 -0.843 -0.685 Analysis of Deviance Table (Type II Wald chisquare tests)

Response: Measure Chisq Df Pr(>Chisq) 142.4570 1 < 2.2e-16 *** Condition TrialN 5.9626 1 0.01461 * Condition:TrialN 32.1335 1 1.439e-08 *** Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1 C.2.2: Group Retention – Two-Way ANOVA Adult dY Df Sum Sq Mean Sq F value Pr(>F) 1 23.20 23.20 5.949 0.0203 * Condition DayN 1 3.33 3.33 0.854 0.3621 Condition:DayN 1 12.24 12.24 3.138 0.0857. Residuals 33 128.69 3.90 ___ Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' C.2.3: Individual Retention – Two-Way ANOVA Adult dY Df Sum Sq Mean Sq F value Pr(>F)1 300.6 300.55 43.695 2.85e-09 *** Condition DayN 4 47.6 11.90 1.729 0.151 Condition:DayN 4 30.6 7.64 1.111 0.356 Residuals 88 605.3 6.88

Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1
C.3: Adult - MOVEMENT TOWARDS FOOD

C.3.1: Acquisition – Linear Mixed Effects Model

Adult dD refitting model(s) with ML (instead of REML) Data: dfs Models: mod.dfs3: Measure ~ Condition + TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) mod.dfs5: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) Df AIC BIC logLik deviance Chisq Chi Df Pr(>Chisq) mod.dfs3 7 4332.5 4366.7 -2159.3 4318.5 mod.dfs5 8 4295.1 4334.2 -2139.5 4279.1 39.45 1 3.365e-10 *** ---Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1 Linear mixed model fit by REML ['lmerMod'] Formula: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) Data: dfs REML criterion at convergence: 4291.4 Scaled residuals: 1Q Median Min 30 Max -4.1610 -0.5614 -0.0206 0.5174 4.4706 Random effects: Groups Name Variance Std.Dev. Corr Tank (Intercept) 3.18609 1.7850 0.01305 0.1142 -0.72 TrialN 3.91780 1.9793 Residual Number of obs: 980, groups: Tank, 49 Fixed effects: Estimate Std. Error t value (Intercept) 0.96302 0.39377 2.446 1.56494 0.57475 2.723 ConditionE TrialN -0.03318 0.02699 -1.229 ConditionE:TrialN 0.30039 0.03940 7.625 Correlation of Fixed Effects: (Intr) CndtnE TrialN ConditionE -0.685 -0.756 0.518 TrialN CndtnE:TrlN 0.518 -0.756 -0.685 Analysis of Deviance Table (Type II Wald chisquare tests)

Response: Measure Chisq Df Pr(>Chisq) 168.532 1 < 2.2e-16 *** Condition TrialN 30.071 1 4.166e-08 *** Condition:TrialN 58.136 1 2.446e-14 *** Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1 C.3.2: Group Retention – Two-Way ANOVA Adult dD Df Sum Sq Mean Sq F value Pr(>F) 1 117.04 117.04 13.010 0.00101 ** Condition DayN 1 1.36 1.36 0.151 0.70021 Condition:DayN 1 73.07 73.07 8.122 0.00748 ** Residuals 33 296.89 9.00 ___ Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1 C.3.3: Individual Retention – Two-Way ANOVA Adult dD Df Sum Sq Mean Sq F value Pr(>F) Condition 1 266.2 266.17 10.725 0.00151 ** DayN 4 172.1 43.01 1.733 0.14983 Condition:DayN 4 121.0 30.26 1.219 0.30845 Residuals 88 2184.1 24.82

Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

APPENDIX D: STATISTICAL ANALYSES FOR JUVENILE

ZEBRAFISH (49 DPF)

D.1: JUVENILE (49 DPF) - HORIZONTAL MOVEMENT

D.1.1: Acquisition – Linear Mixed Effects Model

Juvenile (49 dpf) dX refitting model(s) with ML (instead of REML) Data: dfs Models: mod.dfs3: Measure \sim Condition + TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) mod.dfs5: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) Df AIC BIC logLik deviance Chisq Chi Df Pr(>Chisq) mod.dfs3 7 832.19 856.56 -409.10 818.19 mod.dfs5 8 827.01 854.86 -405.51 811.01 7.1794 1 0.007374 ** ____ Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1 Linear mixed model fit by REML ['lmerMod'] Formula: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) Data: dfs REML criterion at convergence: 822.5 Scaled residuals: 1Q Median Min 3Q Max -3.00097 -0.47572 -0.03762 0.50838 2.88206 Random effects: Groups Name Variance Std.Dev. Corr Tank (Intercept) 1.197829 1.09445 0.005594 0.07479 -0.83 TrialN Residual 1.502983 1.22596 Number of obs: 240, groups: Tank, 12 Fixed effects: Estimate Std. Error t value (Intercept) 0.70229 0.50368 1.394 ConditionE -0.54650 0.71231 -0.767 TrialN -0.02735 0.03618 -0.756 ConditionE:TrialN 0.14643 0.05117 2.862 Correlation of Fixed Effects: (Intr) CndtnE TrialN

ConditionE -0.707

TrialN -0.838 0.593 CndtnE:TrlN 0.593 -0.838 -0.707 Analysis of Deviance Table (Type II Wald chisquare tests)

Response: Measure Chisq Df Pr(>Chisq) Condition 8.9351 1 0.002797 ** TrialN 3.2141 1 0.073006 . Condition:TrialN 8.1900 1 0.004212 ** ---Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

D.1.2: Group Retention – Two-Way ANOVA

Juvenile (49 dpf) dX data: dX.Control and dX.Experimental t = -0.62814, df = 8.2215, p-value = 0.547 alternative hypothesis: true difference in means is not equal to 0 95 percent confidence interval: -1.900382 1.083716 sample estimates: mean of x mean of y 0.7466667 1.1550000

D.2: JUVENILE (49 DPF) - VERTICAL MOVEMENT

D.2.1: Acquisition – Linear Mixed Effects Model

Juvenile (49 dpf) dY refitting model(s) with ML (instead of REML) Data: dfs Models: mod.dfs3: Measure \sim Condition + TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) mod.dfs5: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) Df AIC BIC logLik deviance Chisq Chi Df Pr(>Chisq) mod.dfs3 7 621.26 645.62 -303.63 607.26 mod.dfs5 8 607.21 635.06 -295.61 591.21 16.048 1 6.176e-05 *** ---Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1 Linear mixed model fit by REML ['lmerMod'] Formula: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) Data: dfs REML criterion at convergence: 606.2 Scaled residuals: Min 1Q Median 30 Max -3.04527 -0.60284 -0.03616 0.62326 2.89600 Random effects: Groups Name Variance Std.Dev. Corr Tank (Intercept) 0.3696534 0.60799 TrialN 0.0004155 0.02038 0.22 0.5991292 0.77403 Residual Number of obs: 240, groups: Tank, 12 Fixed effects: Estimate Std. Error t value (Intercept) 1.60139 0.28837 5.553 ConditionE 0.27420 0.40781 0.672 TrialN -0.05462 0.01481 -3.687 ConditionE:TrialN 0.11102 0.02095 5.300 Correlation of Fixed Effects: (Intr) CndtnE TrialN ConditionE -0.707 -0.263 0.186 TrialN CndtnE:TrlN 0.186 -0.263 -0.707 Analysis of Deviance Table (Type II Wald chisquare tests)

Response: Measure Chisq Df Pr(>Chisq) Condition 4.5906 1 0.03215 * TrialN 0.0073 1 0.93189 Condition:TrialN 28.0883 1 1.159e-07 *** ---Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

D.2.2: Group Retention - Two-Way ANOVA

Juvenile (49 dpf) dY data: dY.Control and dY.Experimental t = -4.422, df = 8.7781, p-value = 0.001771 alternative hypothesis: true difference in means is not equal to 0 95 percent confidence interval: -4.275775 -1.374225 sample estimates: mean of x mean of y 0.7266667 3.5516667

D.3: JUVENILE (49 DPF) - MOVEMENT TOWARDS FOOD

D.3.1: Acquisition – Linear Mixed Effects Model

Juvenile (49 dpf) dD refitting model(s) with ML (instead of REML) Data: dfs Models: mod.dfs3: Measure ~ Condition + TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) mod.dfs5: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) Df AIC BIC logLik deviance Chisq Chi Df Pr(>Chisq) mod.dfs3 7 847.06 871.42 -416.53 833.06 mod.dfs5 8 839.64 867.48 -411.82 823.64 9.4213 1 0.002145 ** ---Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1 Linear mixed model fit by REML ['lmerMod'] Formula: Measure ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) Data: dfs REML criterion at convergence: 834.1 Scaled residuals: 1Q Median Min 3Q Max -2.97926 -0.43232 -0.01699 0.51014 2.89656 Random effects: Groups Name Variance Std.Dev. Corr Tank (Intercept) 1.244204 1.11544 TrialN 0.005851 0.07649 -0.69 Residual 1.549211 1.24467 Number of obs: 240, groups: Tank, 12 Fixed effects: Estimate Std. Error t value (Intercept) 1.40876 0.51292 2.747 ConditionE -0.33881 0.72538 -0.467 TrialN -0.04915 0.03692 -1.331 ConditionE:TrialN 0.18034 0.05222 3.453 Correlation of Fixed Effects: (Intr) CndtnE TrialN ConditionE -0.707 -0.737 0.521 TrialN CndtnE:TrlN 0.521 -0.737 -0.707 Analysis of Deviance Table (Type II Wald chisquare tests)

Response: Measure Chisq Df Pr(>Chisq) Condition 9.4232 1 0.0021426 ** TrialN 2.4677 1 0.1162077 Condition:TrialN 11.9264 1 0.0005535 *** ---Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

D.3.2: Group Retention – Two-Way ANOVA

Juvenile (49 dpf) dD data: dD.Control and dD.Experimental t = -2.2714, df = 9.9867, p-value = 0.04649 alternative hypothesis: true difference in means is not equal to 0 95 percent confidence interval: -3.40753129 - 0.03246871sample estimates: mean of x mean of y 1.02 2.74

APPENDIX E: STATISTICAL ANALYSES FOR JUVENILE

ZEBRAFISH (30 DPF)

E.1: JUVENILE (30 DPF) - HORIZONTAL MOVEMENT

E.1.1: Acquisition – Linear Mixed Effects Model

Juvenile (30 dpf) dX Data: dfs Models: $mod.dfs3: dX \sim Condition + TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)$ mod.dfs5: $dX \sim Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)$ Df AIC BIC logLik deviance Chisq Chi Df Pr(>Chisq) mod.dfs3 7 1778.1 1807.3 -882.05 1764.1 mod.dfs5 8 1774.9 1808.3 -879.45 1758.9 5.2002 1 0.02258 * Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1 Linear mixed model fit by REML ['lmerMod'] Formula: $dX \sim Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)$ Data: dfs REML criterion at convergence: 1771.1 Scaled residuals: 10 Median Min 3Q Max -3.2365 -0.5082 -0.0225 0.4944 3.5203 Random effects: Groups Name Variance Std.Dev. Corr Tank (Intercept) 1.877660 1.37028 0.006477 0.08048 -0.74 TrialN Residual 1.938785 1.39240 Number of obs: 480, groups: Tank, 24 Fixed effects: Estimate Std. Error t value (Intercept) -0.45784 0.43742 -1.047 ConditionE 0.68387 0.61860 1.105 TrialN 0.02810 0.02798 1.004 ConditionE:TrialN 0.09128 0.03957 2.307 Correlation of Fixed Effects: (Intr) CndtnE TrialN

ConditionE -0.707

TrialN -0.763 0.539 CndtnE:TrlN 0.539 -0.763 -0.707

Analysis of Deviance Table (Type II Wald chisquare tests)

Response: dX Chisq Df Pr(>Chisq) Condition 19.6453 1 9.323e-06 *** TrialN 13.8948 1 0.0001933 *** Condition:TrialN 5.3227 1 0.0210492 * ---Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

E.1.2: Group Retention – Two-Way ANOVA

Juvenile (30 dpf) dX data: dX.Control and dX.Experimental t = -3.0036, df = 15.197, p-value = 0.008805 alternative hypothesis: true difference in means is not equal to 0 95 percent confidence interval: -4.687910 -0.798763 sample estimates: mean of x mean of y 0.4137572 3.1570938

E.2: JUVENILE (30 DPF) - VERTICAL MOVEMENT

E.2.1: Acquisition – Linear Mixed Effects Model

Juvenile (30 dpf) dY Data: dfs Models: $mod.dfs3: dY \sim Condition + TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)$ mod.dfs5: dY ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) Df AIC BIC logLik deviance Chisq Chi Df Pr(>Chisq) mod.dfs3 7 1566.8 1596.0 -776.38 1552.8 mod.dfs5 8 1565.3 1598.7 -774.65 1549.3 3.4757 1 0.06228. Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' '1 Linear mixed model fit by REML ['lmerMod'] Formula: $dY \sim Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)$ Data: dfs REML criterion at convergence: 1561 Scaled residuals: 1Q Median Min 30 Max -3.2236 -0.5718 -0.0156 0.5383 3.2161 Random effects: Groups Name Variance Std.Dev. Corr Tank (Intercept) 2.399560 1.54905 0.008804 0.09383 -0.76 TrialN Residual 1.177019 1.08490 Number of obs: 480, groups: Tank, 24 Fixed effects: Estimate Std. Error t value (Intercept) -0.91416 0.47024 -1.944 0.25020 0.66502 0.376 ConditionE TrialN 0.06763 0.02968 2.278 ConditionE:TrialN 0.07773 0.04198 1.852 Correlation of Fixed Effects: (Intr) CndtnE TrialN ConditionE -0.707 -0.766 0.542 TrialN CndtnE:TrlN 0.542 -0.766 -0.707

Analysis of Deviance Table (Type II Wald chisquare tests)

Response: dY Chisq Df Pr(>Chisq) Condition 7.8129 1 0.005187 ** TrialN 25.7424 1 3.902e-07 *** Condition:TrialN 3.4283 1 0.064089 . ---Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

E.2.2: Group Retention – Two-Way ANOVA

Juvenile (30 dpf) dY data: dY.Control and dY.Experimental t = 4.2646, df = 19.712, p-value = 0.0003897 alternative hypothesis: true difference in means is not equal to 0 95 percent confidence interval: 1.293635 3.775351 sample estimates: mean of x mean of y 2.9714668 0.4369738

E.3: JUVENILE (30 DPF) - MOVEMENT MOVEMENT TOWARDS FOOD

E.3.1: Acquisition – Linear Mixed Effects Model

Juvenile (30 dpf) dD Data: dfs Models: $mod.dfs3: dD \sim Condition + TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)$ mod.dfs5: dD ~ Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank) Df AIC BIC logLik deviance Chisq Chi Df Pr(>Chisq) mod.dfs3 7 1878.7 1907.9 -932.36 1864.7 mod.dfs5 8 1875.6 1909.0 -929.81 1859.6 5.1038 1 0.02387 * Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1 Linear mixed model fit by REML ['lmerMod'] Formula: $dD \sim Condition * TrialN + (TrialN | Tank)$ Data: dfs REML criterion at convergence: 1869.6 Scaled residuals: 1Q Median Min 30 Max -2.8835 -0.5553 -0.0088 0.5187 3.4885 Random effects: Groups Name Variance Std.Dev. Corr Tank (Intercept) 3.60130 1.898 0.01299 0.114 -0.76 TrialN Residual 2.30451 1.518 Number of obs: 480, groups: Tank, 24 Fixed effects: Estimate Std. Error t value (Intercept) -0.95779 0.58442 -1.639 ConditionE 0.66918 0.82650 0.810 TrialN 0.06721 0.03703 1.815 ConditionE:TrialN 0.11956 0.05236 2.283 Correlation of Fixed Effects: (Intr) CndtnE TrialN ConditionE -0.707 -0.777 0.549 TrialN CndtnE:TrlN 0.549 -0.777 -0.707

Analysis of Deviance Table (Type II Wald chisquare tests)

Response: dD Chisq Df Pr(>Chisq) Condition 16.8460 1 4.054e-05 *** TrialN 23.5253 1 1.233e-06 *** Condition:TrialN 5.2131 1 0.02242 * ---Signif. codes: 0 '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1 ' ' 1

E.3.2: Group Retention – Two-Way ANOVA

Juvenile (30 dpf) dD data: dD.Control and dD.Experimental t = -4.1055, df = 16.962, p-value = 0.000741 alternative hypothesis: true difference in means is not equal to 0 95 percent confidence interval: -5.641725 - 1.811062sample estimates: mean of x mean of y 0.5818747 4.3082680

APPENDIX F: COPYRIGHT PERMISSIONS

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jul 25, 2016

This Agreement between Neil Merovitch ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	3916151471614
License date	Jul 25, 2016
Licensed Content Publisher	Elsevier
Licensed Content Publication	Brain Research
Licensed Content Title	The dorsal pallium in zebrafish, Danio rerio (Cyprinidae, Teleostei)
Licensed Content Author	Thomas Mueller, Zhiqiang Dong, Michael A. Berberoglu, Su Guo
Licensed Content Date	24 March 2011
Licensed Content Volume Number	1381
Licensed Content Issue Number	n/a
Licensed Content Pages	11
Start Page	95
End Page	105
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Intended publisher of new work	other
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Format	both print and electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	No
Will you be translating?	No
Order reference number	
Original figure numbers	Figure. 2
Title of your thesis/dissertation	A simple automated system for appetitive conditioning of zebrafish in their home tanks and studying the underlying neural activation
Expected completion date	Aug 2016
Estimated size (number of pages)	100
Elsevier VAT number	GB 494 6272 12
Requestor Location	Neil Merovitch 5850 College Street

Halifax, NS B3H 4R2

Canada Attn: Neil Merovitch 0.00 USD

Terms and Conditions

Total

INTRODUCTION

1. The publisher for this copyrighted material is Elsevier. By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the Billing and Payment terms and conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account and that are available at any time at http://myaccount.copyright.com).

GENERAL TERMS

2. Elsevier hereby grants you permission to reproduce the aforementioned material subject to the terms and conditions indicated.

3. Acknowledgement: If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies. Suitable acknowledgement to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"Reprinted from Publication title, Vol /edition number, Author(s), Title of article / title of chapter, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier [OR APPLICABLE SOCIETY COPYRIGHT OWNER]." Also Lancet special credit - "Reprinted from The Lancet, Vol. number, Author(s), Title of article, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier."

4. Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose and/or media for which permission is hereby given.

5. Altering/Modifying Material: Not Permitted. However figures and illustrations may be altered/adapted minimally to serve your work. Any other abbreviations, additions, deletions and/or any other alterations shall be made only with prior written authorization of Elsevier Ltd. (Please contact Elsevier at permissions@elsevier.com)

6. If the permission fee for the requested use of our material is waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Elsevier materials may attract a fee.

7. Reservation of Rights: Publisher reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

8. License Contingent Upon Payment: While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. Warranties: Publisher makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

10. Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless publisher and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all

claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

11. No Transfer of License: This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without publisher's written permission.
12. No Amendment Except in Writing: This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of publisher, by CCC on publisher's behalf).
13. Objection to Contrary Terms: Publisher hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and publisher (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions and those officient between your obligations.

14. Revocation: Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center may deny the permissions described in this License at their sole discretion, for any reason or no reason, with a full refund payable to you. Notice of such denial will be made using the contact information provided by you. Failure to receive such notice will not alter or invalidate the denial. In no event will Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center be responsible or liable for any costs, expenses or damage incurred by you as a result of a denial of your permission request, other than a refund of the amount(s) paid by you to Elsevier and/or Copyright Clearance Center for denied permissions.

LIMITED LICENSE

The following terms and conditions apply only to specific license types: 15. **Translation**: This permission is granted for non-exclusive world **English** rights only unless your license was granted for translation rights. If you licensed translation rights you may only translate this content into the languages you requested. A professional translator must perform all translations and reproduce the content word for word preserving the integrity of the article.

16. **Posting licensed content on any Website**: The following terms and conditions apply as follows: Licensing material from an Elsevier journal: All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image; A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx or the Elsevier homepage for books at http://www.elsevier.com; Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

Licensing material from an Elsevier book: A hyper-text link must be included to the Elsevier homepage at <u>http://www.elsevier.com</u>. All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image.

Posting licensed content on Electronic reserve: In addition to the above the following clauses are applicable: The web site must be password-protected and made available only to bona fide students registered on a relevant course. This permission is granted for 1 year only. You may obtain a new license for future website posting.

17. For journal authors: the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above: **Preprints:**

A preprint is an author's own write-up of research results and analysis, it has not been peerreviewed, nor has it had any other value added to it by a publisher (such as formatting, copyright, technical enhancement etc.).

Authors can share their preprints anywhere at any time. Preprints should not be added to or enhanced in any way in order to appear more like, or to substitute for, the final versions of articles however authors can update their preprints on arXiv or RePEc with their Accepted Author Manuscript (see below).

If accepted for publication, we encourage authors to link from the preprint to their formal publication via its DOI. Millions of researchers have access to the formal publications on ScienceDirect, and so links will help users to find, access, cite and use the best available version. Please note that Cell Press, The Lancet and some society-owned have different preprint policies. Information on these policies is available on the journal homepage. Accepted Author Manuscripts: An accepted author manuscript is the manuscript of an article that has been accepted for publication and which typically includes authorincorporated changes suggested during submission, peer review and editor-author communications.

Authors can share their accepted author manuscript:

- immediately
 - via their non-commercial person homepage or blog
 - by updating a preprint in arXiv or RePEc with the accepted manuscript
 - via their research institute or institutional repository for internal institutional uses or as part of an invitation-only research collaboration work-group
 - directly by providing copies to their students or to research collaborators for their personal use
 - for private scholarly sharing as part of an invitation-only work group on commercial sites with which Elsevier has an agreement
- after the embargo period
 - via non-commercial hosting platforms such as their institutional repository
 - via commercial sites with which Elsevier has an agreement

In all cases accepted manuscripts should:

- link to the formal publication via its DOI
- bear a CC-BY-NC-ND license this is easy to do
- if aggregated with other manuscripts, for example in a repository or other site, be shared in alignment with our hosting policy not be added to or enhanced in any way to appear more like, or to substitute for, the published journal article.

Published journal article (JPA): A published journal article (PJA) is the definitive final record of published research that appears or will appear in the journal and embodies all value-adding publishing activities including peer review co-ordination, copy-editing, formatting, (if relevant) pagination and online enrichment.

Policies for sharing publishing journal articles differ for subscription and gold open access articles:

Subscription Articles: If you are an author, please share a link to your article rather than the full-text. Millions of researchers have access to the formal publications on ScienceDirect, and so links will help your users to find, access, cite, and use the best available version. Theses and dissertations which contain embedded PJAs as part of the formal submission can be posted publicly by the awarding institution with DOI links back to the formal publications on ScienceDirect.

If you are affiliated with a library that subscribes to ScienceDirect you have additional private sharing rights for others' research accessed under that agreement. This includes use for classroom teaching and internal training at the institution (including use in course packs and courseware programs), and inclusion of the article for grant funding purposes.

<u>Gold Open Access Articles:</u> May be shared according to the author-selected end-user license and should contain a <u>CrossMark logo</u>, the end user license, and a DOI link to the formal publication on ScienceDirect.

Please refer to Elsevier's posting policy for further information.

18. For book authors the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above: Authors are permitted to place a brief summary of their work online only. You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your chapter, nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version. Posting to a repository: Authors are permitted to post a summary of their chapter only in their institution's repository. 19. Thesis/Dissertation: If your license is for use in a thesis/dissertation your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. These requirements include permission for the Library and Archives of Canada to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission for Proquest/UMI to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission which contain embedded PIAs as part of the formal submission can be posted publicly by the awarding institution with DOI links back to the formal publications on ScienceDirect.

Elsevier Open Access Terms and Conditions

You can publish open access with Elsevier in hundreds of open access journals or in nearly 2000 established subscription journals that support open access publishing. Permitted third party re-use of these open access articles is defined by the author's choice of Creative Commons user license. See our open access license policy for more information. Terms & Conditions applicable to all Open Access articles published with Elsevier: Any reuse of the article must not represent the author as endorsing the adaptation of the article nor should the article be modified in such a way as to damage the author's honour or reputation. If any changes have been made, such changes must be clearly indicated. The author(s) must be appropriately credited and we ask that you include the end user license and a DOI link to the formal publication on ScienceDirect. If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source it is the responsibility of the user to ensure their reuse complies with the terms and conditions determined by the rights holder. Additional Terms & Conditions applicable to each Creative Commons user license: CC BY: The CC-BY license allows users to copy, to create extracts, abstracts and new works from the Article, to alter and revise the Article and to make commercial use of the Article (including reuse and/or resale of the Article by commercial entities), provided the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, indicates if changes were made and the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. The full details of the license are

available at http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0.

CC BY NC SA: The CC BY-NC-SA license allows users to copy, to create extracts, abstracts and new works from the Article, to alter and revise the Article, provided this is not done for commercial purposes, and that the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, indicates if changes were made and the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. Further, any new works must be made available on the same conditions. The full details of the license are available at http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0. CC BY NC ND: The CC BY-NC-ND license allows users to copy and distribute the Article, provided this is not done for commercial purposes and further does not permit distribution of the Article if it is changed or edited in any way, and provided the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, and that the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. The full details of the license are available at http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0. Any commercial reuse of Open Access articles published with a CC BY NC SA or CC BY NC ND license requires permission from Elsevier and will be subject to a fee. Commercial reuse includes:

- Associating advertising with the full text of the Article Charging fees for document delivery or access -
- -
- -
- Article aggregation Systematic distribution via e-mail lists or share buttons -

Posting or linking by commercial companies for use by customers of those companies.

20. Other Conditions:

v1.8

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.